




City of Colfax 1 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 

City Council Minutes 
Regular Meeting of Wednesday, April 24, 2019 

City Hall Council Chambers 

33 S. Main Street, Colfax CA 

1. CLOSED SESSION (No closed session items)

2. CALL TO ORDER

Call Open Session to Order 

Mayor Fatula called the meeting to order at 7:01PM. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Joe Ten Eyck, Cal Fire Division Chief, led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Roll Call 

Council members Present:  Burruss, Douglass, Fatula, Lomen, Mendoza 

Approval of Agenda Order 

On a motion by Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza, seconded by Councilmember Burruss, the City Council 

approved the agenda order. 

AYES:  Burruss, Douglass, Fatula, Lomen, Mendoza   

3. PRESENTATION

Mosquito and Vector Control Awareness Week April 21-27, 2019 

Joel Buettner, General Manager of Placer County Mosquito and Vector Control District 

Recommendation:  Receive presentation and adopt Resolution 10-2019 recognizing West 

Nile Virus and Mosquito and Vector Control Awareness Week 2019. 

Mayor Fatula introduced Mario Boisvert, Assistant Manager of the Placer County Mosquito and Vector 

Control District.  As Mr. Buettner was not able to attend the meeting, Mr. Boisvert gave a PowerPoint 

presentation regarding Mosquito and Vector Control District.  The main goal of the District is to protect 

people using science based integrated vector management control.  He stated West Nile virus has been 

affecting Californians since 2001 and every year the number of cases fluctuates.  This year the District 

is concerned that with the end of drought restrictions, yard irrigation will create more standing water 

which in turn may result in more cases of West Nile.  The invasive mosquitos which occur in Placer 

County may cause other diseases, such as Zika Virus.  The public can help by reporting stagnant water 

to the District and to dress with long sleeves or repellant.  So far Colfax has had no reports of disease in 

the area. 

Nancy Hagman, local resident, asked if heart-worm is a problem in the area.  She also asked if she could 

purchase products to eradicate mosquitos locally.  Mr. Boisvert replied the prevalence of heart worm is 

pretty low in Placer County.  He stated it is best, and free, to call the District for mosquito abatement. 

A resident of Alta asked if the District would inspect a pond near his home.  Mr. Boisvert confirmed the 

District would come out if he calls the office. 

On a motion by Councilmember Burruss seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza, the City Council 

adopted Resolution 10-2019. 

AYES:  Burruss, Douglass, Fatula, Lomen, Mendoza   

Item 5A
1 of 8



City of Colfax 2 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 

4. PUBLIC HEARING

Public Hearing for Colfax Net Variance to allow a reduced setback to permit 

installation of a 60-80-foot-high telecommunication tower with antennas 

Staff Presentation:  Amy Feagans, Planning Director 

Recommendation:  Conduct a Public Hearing and decide whether to grant, grant with 

modifications, or deny the requested variance. 

Mayor Fatula stated he rents a small space in his business to the applicant, recused himself from the 

discussion, yielded the chair to Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza, and stepped out of the Council Chambers for 

the Public Hearing. 

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza introduced Planning Director Amy Feagans. 

Planner Feagans stated Colfax Net is requesting a variance to construct a 3-legged antenna with a 

10x10x10 base for his internet business, in the same location and to replace the dead tree on which his 

equipment is currently housed.  The new tower would be no higher than the existing equipment, 

approximately 72 feet.  Colfax zoning code requires at least a 2-foot setback from the property line for 

every foot of tower height.  Colfax Net has a relatively small easement on the property which will not 

allow the proper set back.  Council may approve a variance within very specific findings.  The action 

requires Council to determine: 

• There are special circumstances applicable to the property,

• The variance does not constitute a grant of special privileges,

• Granting the variance doesn’t allow an illegal use, and,

• Granting the variance will not be detrimental to the public health.

Staff is not asking for a specific decision, just to open the hearing, hear from applicant, hear from the 

public, let the applicant respond and then close the hearing.  After closing the hearing, the Council can 

give direction to staff. 

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza opened the Public Hearing at 7:26PM 

The applicant, Corey Juchau, gave his presentation.  He stated his business is licensed with the FPC and 

has provided information services to Colfax and the area since 2002.  He has about 1,000 customers and 

they support the City financially either as business owners or customers of Colfax businesses.  Mr. 

Juchau thanked his customers for voting the business “Best of the Best” for internet services 4 years in 

a row.   

He outlined why his request for the variance meets the required findings.  

• This variance is necessary because he has an unusual problem in that his equipment works with

“line-of-site” technology.  The location of the equipment cannot be moved without impacting

service and costing $1.2 million.  The variance is necessary because the 2 to 1 ratio of distance

from property line to height of the tower can’t be achieved within his easement.

• He is not asking for special treatment inconsistent with the limitation on nearby properties.

• An antenna is not against the zoning regulations on this property.

• He asserted there will be no harm to the neighbors as the nearest structure is 100’s of yards away

from the location of the equipment.  Cal Fire has an easement in this location as well.  Other

towers in the vicinity are very visible, but the Colfax Net tower will not be visible from the homes

nearby.  The current tower is inconspicuous in comparison to neighboring towers and the new

tower and antennas will be camouflaged.

Approving the variance will allow the community to continue receiving their ISP service. 

Mayor Pro Tem opened public comment for the Hearing.  The following members of the public spoke: 

Item 5A
2 of 8



 

City of Colfax 3 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 
 

Karla Jamison Colfax Resident In Support  

Julie Sanchez Area Resident In Support  

George Beckman Area Resident In Support  

Robert Sinclair Attorney for Property owner Not opposed Submitted letter 

Jewell DeLappe Area Resident In Support  

Sharon Conners Area Resident In Support  

Nadine Harmon Colfax Resident In Support  

Scott Wilmar Area Resident Opposed  

Unknown Speaker Area Resident In Support  

Rose Swick Owner of Neighboring Property Opposed  

Emmaline - Colfax Resident In Support  

Donna Clark Tomlinson Nevada County Resident In Support  

Unknown Speaker Area Resident In Support  

Wayne Armstrong Owner of Competing Business Opposed  

Hank, - Area Resident In Support  

Sam Ronsie Area Resident In Support  

Daviana Ackerman Owner of Neighboring Property Opposed Submitted image 

Unknown Speaker Unknown Residence In Support  

Sally Laughlin Area Resident In Support  

Nancy Hagman Area Resident Opposed  

David Ackerman Owner of Neighboring Property Opposed Submitted documents  

Sven Miller Area Resident Opposed  

Tom Swick Owner of Neighboring Property Opposed Submitted documents 

Jerry Ryan Area Resident In Support  
 

Arthur Woodward, attorney for the applicant, spoke on the applicant’s behalf.  Mr. Woodward stated the 

applicant was granted an easement by the property owner for which he paid $10,000.  The requested 

variance is not against the zoning laws.  The new tower will not be taller than the existing tree and will 

not be visible from the neighboring homes, but, of course, will be visible from the property line. 

Councilmember Burruss stated the easement lists an Assessor’s Parcel Number which is no longer in 

use. 

Mr. Sinclair, on behalf of the property owner, Mr. Amick, stated the property was deeded to his client 

through a foreclosure in 2010 and the APN’s were readjusted with property line conversions.  The history 

of the APN’s for this parcel are muddled. 

Mr. Woodward, on behalf of the applicant, stated the correct legal description is more determinate of the 

property than the APN and attached to the deed.   

Councilmember Burruss stated this discrepancy is indicative of other potential issues that need to be 

ironed out. 

Richard Hollman, a realtor involved with transactions for the property in the past, stated a previous 

owner gave the easement away. 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza closed the Public Hearing at 8:33PM. 
 

Planner Feagans reminded Council the easement on the property is not the issue at hand, simply the 

variance to allow the tower to be rebuilt. 
 

Councilmember Lomen stated Council has not had much time to study this issue.  He understands Colfax 

Net offers a needed service, but he feels property owners’ rights are more important.  He does not want 

Item 5A
3 of 8



City of Colfax 4 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 

to see Colfax Net go out of business and requests Council continue the discussion to another meeting to 

allow time to work with other options for Colfax Net.  He would like to ensure PG&E service is viable, 

a professional survey of the existing structure exists, and analysis of the actual height necessary for a 

line of sight tower?  Councilmember Lomen stated he will work diligently to see that Colfax Net stays 

viable and a contingency plan is in place. 

Councilmember Burruss would also like to continue the discussion on another date.  In her opinion 

Council couldn’t legally vote yes on this variance because it does not meet all of the criteria.  She also 

would like to work with the applicant to explore other options. 

Councilmember Douglass stated only two weeks of knowing about the application for a variance is not 

enough time to make a rational decision and would also like to find a compromise or other option.   

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza, after hearing from many constituents, spent some time gathering information 

regarding communication towers and safety concerns.  She also feels Council needs more time and 

information before making a decision that will balance, health, fire safety and the services provided.   

City Manager Heathcock stated if Council denies this application, then this is not the end of Colfax Net, 

just the end of the variance to build a tower at the current location of the existing tree. 

Councilmember Lomen made a motion to continue the discussion at another meeting. 

City Manager Heathcock requested Council give staff a list of specific information to bring back to 

Council for consideration. 

Council requested the following: 

1. Approval from PG&E for a power meter on site or other secure power source

2. Professional survey of the height of existing tree

3. Proposed use of new tower space (number of antennas, additional equipment)

4. Scope of work of the project to build the tower

5. Other options for types of tower structure (a monopole for instance).

City Manager Heathcock reminded Council, staff will work with the applicant to respond to Council’s 

requests, but these items are not necessarily related to approval of the variance. 

Councilmember Burruss seconded the motion to continue the discussion until the second meeting in 

May.   

On a roll call vote, Council approved the motion. 

AYES:  Burruss, Douglass, Lomen, Mendoza 

RECUSED:  Fatula 

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza called for a brief recess at 8:50PM. 

Mayor Fatula called the meeting back to order at 8:57PM. 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Approve Consent Calendar

Minutes – Regular Meeting of April 10, 2019 

Recommendation:  Approve the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of April 10, 2019. 

Project List for Road Repair – SB-1 Funding 

Recommendation:  Adopt Resolution 11-2019 adopting a list of potential projects to be 

funded in full or in part by the SB-1 Fiscal Year 2019-2020 funding allocation: The Road 

Item 5A
4 of 8



City of Colfax 5 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 

Repair and Accountability Act ensuring eligibility for State of California Road 

Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account (RMRA) revenues. 

Cash Summary Report – March 2019 

Recommendation:  Accept and file. 

On a motion by Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza, seconded by Councilmember Lomen, the City Council 

approved the Consent Calendar. 

AYES:  Burruss, Douglass, Fatula, Lomen, Mendoza 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT

Sharon Conners, Area Resident 

• Ms. Conners noted it is nice to see people at the Council meeting and she wishes more

people would come to the meetings to support ongoing topics not just one agenda item.

Bev Anderson, Area Resident 

• Ms. Anderson is President of the local Neuropathy Society. She handed out an

information sheet to explain the services provided by 211, an important service for

residents to easily access social services.  Placer County is in the process of

determining whether to approve 211. Please let the Board of Supervisors know this is

important to Colfax.

City Manager Heathcock stated Todd Leopold, Chief Executive Officer for the County is spearheading 

the process and looking into costs and funding sources. 

Reene Abbott, Event Liaison 

• Ms. Abbott stated all of the major events in Colfax have vendors which are eager to

participate.  This enthusiasm demonstrates that there is something great about Colfax.

7. COUNCIL, STAFF AND OTHER REPORTS

Committee Reports and Colfax Informational Items - All Councilmembers 

Councilmember Lomen  

• Councilmember Lomen reported the Wilder than Wild showing at the Colfax Theatre

was a good success with about 50 people in attendance.

Councilmember Douglass 

• Councilmember Douglass represented the City at the Placer Economic Development

Board meeting and at the SACOG seminar.  The SACOG Policy and Innovation

committee will be conducting pilot studies, possibly in Colfax.

• He attended the VFW Pancake Breakfast, Lions Club Easter Egg Hunt, the Weimar

Institute Total Community Involvement Concert and a special railroad event celebrating

the Transcontinental Railroad with Union Pacific Railroad.

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza 

• Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza attended the Wilder than Wild film.

• She presented quarterly awards at the elementary school for the Hard Work Café

Program.

 Councilmember Burruss 

• Councilmember Burruss and City Manager Heathcock met with a vendor at the

Wastewater Treatment Plant regarding funding for a solar array.  There is potential for a

rebate which may be greater than grant funding.

• She represented the City at the Placer County Air Quality Control Board meeting.

• She also attended the VFW Breakfast, the American Legion Dinner, the Lions Club

Easter Egg Hunt and the Union Pacific Railroad event.

Item 5A
5 of 8



City of Colfax 6 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 

Mayor Fatula 

• Mayor Fatula suggested Council invite High School students with high achievements to

a Council meeting to receive a certificate.

 Councilmember Douglass stated he had just put the list of students in Mayor Fatula’s inbox.  

8A. City Operations Update – City Staff 

City Manager Heathcock 

• City Manager Heathcock has discussed community-wide branding with the Chamber

and staff will bring an idea to Council with a full presentation to show the benefits of a

branding plan and new signage.

• Staff will be meeting with the USDA to discuss grants for the Wastewater Treatment

Plant and fire equipment.

• He announced staff will work with high school interns this summer.  It is a good

program to have the students shadow staff and learn more about career opportunities.

• Recology Spring clean up is scheduled for May 8, 2019.

• The bid for construction of the Roundabout closes April 30, 2019.  Staff hopes to bring

the contract to Council on May 8, 2019 with a groundbreaking ceremony on May 13,

2019.

• He recommended Council take a look at the new website.

• The Water Quality Control Grant is approved but the agreement processing is very slow

and waiting for 11 more signatures.

• The Sheriff’s Department have put a prescription drug drop off receptacle in City Hall.

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza asked if plans have been made to move the daffodil bulbs before construction 

of the roundabout.  Councilmember Douglass stated he is working on getting volunteers. 

8B. Additional Reports – Agency Partners 

Tim Ryan, Colfax Area Chamber of Commerce President 

• Mr. Ryan thanked Council for taking all comments and letting everyone speak in the public

hearing.

• The Chamber is working on new signs to encourage visitors to drive downtown.

• The Chamber will begin hosting classes for small business development, and updating their

forms and other services.

• The first mixer of the season will be May 21, 2019 at the Chamber Office at 5:30PM.

• The Chamber and the City continue a good working relationship. Mr. Ryan and City

Manager Heathcock meet weekly to walk the City and speak with business owners.

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza asked how many new businesses have become chamber members?  Four 

businesses have joined the Chamber and the City is now including a Chamber application with every 

new business license application. 

Ty Conners, Placer County Sheriff, Colfax Substation Commander 

• Sergeant Conners mentioned the drug take-back receptacle does not take liquids or

needles.

• He attended a railroad crossing safety meeting which was a national training opportunity.

• Sergeant Conners and Chief Eagan are working together to update Operation of

Emergency Services plans.

Joe Ten Eyck, Operations Chief, CalFire 

• Chief Van Eyck introduced Chief Mathias who is his equivalent from Nevada County.

• He reminded everyone to be cautious near rivers during this season of snow melt.

Item 5A
6 of 8



 

City of Colfax 7 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 
 

• After May 1st permits will be required for burning debris, take advantage of early spring 

to create a defensible space around your home. 

Foxey McCleary and Sharon Conners, Sierra Vista Community Center representatives 

• Ms. Conners stated the Sierra Vista Community Center will be offering free yoga 

classes and continues to expand its programs to provide to the community. 

• May 11, 2019 will be spring clean-up day at the Community Center and May 15, 2019 

is scheduled for the annual meeting and member appreciation spaghetti dinner. 

• Ms. McCleary reminded everyone the Chocolate Wine and Art Indulgence is this 

Saturday, April 27, 2019.  

City Manager Heathcock asked for results of the neighborhood Skate Park survey.  Neighbors were not 

positive but the Sierra Vista Community Center Board is responsible to its members.  They would like to 

hear from the City about bathrooms and drinking fountains. 

Fred Abbott, Colfax Events Liaison 

• Mr. Abbott stated the next Colfax Connection is about ready to go.  He needs articles 

from Councilmembers and Staff. 
 

8. COUNCIL BUSINESS  

 South Auburn Hotel Mitigation and Impact Fee Reimbursement Agreement 

Staff Presentation:  Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Recommendation:  Discuss and consider adopting Resolution 12-2019 approving the 

reimbursement agreement for Mitigation and Impact Fees for development of the South 

Auburn Hotel to allow split payments of the fees, and the fee schedule shall not be 

increased before June 27, 2021. 
 

City Manager Heathcock explained the developers of Best Western Hotel on South Auburn have 

requested permission to split payments of the mitigation fees, half with the building permit and half 

before the occupancy permit is issued.  Approving this request will help the developers to have more 

capital to build.   

Council discussed mechanisms to ensure the City will have leverage to collect the fees.   

City Manager Heathcock replied the hotel will not receive an occupancy permit before the payments are 

completed. 
 

On a motion by Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza and a second by Councilmember Lomen, Council adopted 

Resolution 12-2019. 

AYES:  Burruss, Douglass, Fatula, Lomen, Mendoza 
 

 Temporary Interfund Loan to finalize purchase a portion of “Lot of Arts” from Scott 

Miles as approved by Council on April 11, 2018 

Staff Presentation:  Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Recommendation: Discuss and consider adopting Resolution 13-2019 authorizing an 

interfund loan from Fund 100 to Fund 213 in the amount of $30,000 to complete the 

purchase of the Lot of Arts from Scott Miles. 
 

City Manager Heathcock explained an interfund loan is a typical business practice to compensate for 

short-term funding deficits.  The Lot of Arts purchase is ready to be completed but the Parks and 

Recreation Fund is currently short the full amount.  Staff anticipates the interfund loan will be paid back 

in a year as residential development fees increase.     

 

Item 5A
7 of 8



 

City of Colfax 8 

City Council Minutes April 24, 2019 
 

On a motion by Councilmember Lomen, and a second by Councilmember Burruss, Council adopted 

Resolution 13-2019. 

AYES:  Burruss, Douglass, Lomen, Mendoza, Fatula 
 

9. GOOD OF THE ORDER  

Mayor Pro Tem Mendoza stated she would like to be sure the top four high school students are 

recognized annually. 

Councilmember Douglass would like to discuss the possibility of rebuilding the City pool. City Manager 

Heathcock stated the previous Council approved building a Skate Park at the location, but the Sierra 

Vista Community Center may allow the Skate Park on its property.  If the Skate Park is built at the Sierra 

Vista Community Center, then the site could be considered for a pool.  

Mayor Fatula stated this topic could be placed on an agenda by mid – summer if the Skate Park won’t 

be built at the pool site. 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 

On a motion by Councilmember Burruss and a second by Councilmember Lomen, the Council voted 

unanimously to adjourn. 
 

Mayor Fatula adjourned the meeting at 9:57PM. 

 

Respectfully submitted to City Council this 22nd day of May, 2019. 

Item 5A
8 of 8



Staff Report to City Council 

1 City of Colfax 
Staff Report May 22, 2019 Quarterly Investment Report – Quarter Ending 3/31/19 

FOR THE MAY 22, 2019 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

From: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Prepared by: Laurie Van Groningen, Finance Director 

Subject: Quarterly Investment Report – Ending March 31, 2019 
Budget Impact Overview: 

N/A:   √ Funded: Un-funded: Amount: Fund(s): 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Receive and file. 

Summary/Background 

California Government Code Section 53646 and the City of Colfax Investment Policy require a quarterly 

investment report be submitted to the City Council.  Such report shall include at least the following 

information: 

• Types of Investments;

• Name of the institution in which funds are invested or deposited;

• Date of Maturity, if applicable;

• Par and dollar amount investment for all securities;

• Percent distribution of each type of investment or deposit; current market value as of the date of

the report, including source of the valuation except those under LAIF;

• Rate of interest

• Average weighted yield of all investments

• A statement relating the report to the City’s Investment Policy; and

• A statement that there are sufficient funds to meet the City’s next six months’ financial

obligations.

The current practice for cash management is to maintain an operating balance between $75,000 and 

$150,000 in the City’s US Bank Corporate checking account.  This account accumulates Earnings 

Credits based on the account balance which offset/reduce monthly service charges.  City funds in excess 

of targeted operating balance are transferred to the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund 

(LAIF) on a weekly basis.  The checking account balance may be reported at an amount higher than the 

target balance by the Bank due to the timing of City checks being processed by vendors/service 

providers. 

The City’s investment policy is authorized under the California Government Code, section 53600, et. 

seq. as it applies to the investment of public funds.   The Government Code governs the City’s allowable 

investments, and the lengths of those investments. Our investment policy dictates that the City should 

have liquid short term securities to meet six month’s financial obligations.  The budget for fiscal year 

Item 5B
1 of 5



2 City of Colfax 
Staff Report May 22, 2019 Quarterly Investment Report – Quarter Ending 3/31/19 

2018-2019 reflects nearly $4.2M in annual expenditures, therefore our target for liquid short-term 

securities would be $2.1M.   

CONCLUSION:  

The attached schedule Analysis of Treasury Investment Pool satisfies the State’s reporting requirements.  

Additionally, we have determined: 

• The investments held at March 31, 2019 conform to the City Investment Policy adopted by

Resolution 29-2014.

• The composite yield of the City’s investment pool (US Bank and LAIF) to be the rate of 2.32%

for the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

• There are sufficient funds on deposit to meet all anticipated City expenditures for the period

April 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019.

Historically, due to fluctuations in fund balances, investment opportunities outside the corporate 

checking and LAIF accounts have been somewhat limited.  With several years of solid funding levels, 

the City staff has reviewed additional investment opportunities.  We have seriously considered the 

process of opening an account for some short-term Certificates of Deposit (CD) investments. In recent 

months, the rates for CD’s have dropped while LAIF interest rates continue to increase creating a very 

narrow gap between the two investment options.  Staff will continue to review for opportunities, but at 

this time will continue with the current investment structure.  

Attachments 
1. Analysis of Treasury Investment Pool

2. State of California – PMIA and LAIF Performance Report (QE 03/31/2019)

3. State of California – PMIA Average Monthly Effective Yields

Item 5B
2 of 5



City of Colfax

Analysis of Treasury Investment Pool

Quarterly Analysis ‐ FY2018‐2019
Report Date:  03/31/2019

Type of Investment Financial Institution

Date of 

Maturity

Investment 

Amount

% of Total 

Investment

Average 

Investment 

Yield

Investment Fund State Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A 4,784,830$       96% 2.39%

Corporate Checking US Bank N/A 196,894$          4% 0.19%

Total Investment Pool 4,981,724$       100% 2.32%

Type of Investment Financial Institution

Date of 

Maturity

Investment 

Amount

% of Total 

Investment

Average 

Investment 

Yield

Investment Fund State Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A 4,184,644$       92% 2.21%

Corporate Checking US Bank N/A 376,346$          8% 0.21%

Total Investment Pool 4,560,990$       100% 2.05%

Type of Investment Financial Institution

Date of 

Maturity

Investment 

Amount

% of Total 

Investment

Average 

Investment 

Yield

Investment Fund State Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A 4,834,656$       96% 2.00%

Corporate Checking US Bank N/A 212,482$          4% 0.20%

Total Investment Pool 5,047,138$       100% 1.86%

Quarter Ended 03/31/2019

Quarter Ended 12/31/2018

Quarter Ended 09/30/2018

Item 5B
3 of 5



CALIFORNIA STATE TREASURER
FIONA MA, CPA

03/25/19 2.44 2.39 175
03/26/19 2.44 2.39 174
03/27/19 2.44 2.39 175
03/28/19 2.44 2.39 176
03/29/19 2.44 2.39 181
03/30/19 2.44 2.39 181
03/31/19 2.44 2.39 179
04/01/19 2.44 2.44 179
04/02/19 2.44 2.44 184
04/03/19 2.44 2.44 182
04/04/19 2.44 2.44 179
04/05/19 2.44 2.44 179
04/06/19 2.44 2.44 179 Mar 2019 2.436
04/07/19 2.44 2.44 179 Feb 2019 2.392
04/08/19 2.44 2.44 181 Jan 2019 2.355
04/09/19 2.45 2.43 182
04/10/19 2.45 2.43 181
04/11/19 2.45 2.43 181
04/12/19 2.45 2.43 182
04/13/19 2.45 2.44 182
04/14/19 2.45 2.44 182
04/15/19 2.45 2.44 182
04/16/19 2.45 2.44 182
04/17/19 2.45 2.44 181
04/18/19 2.45 2.44 184
04/19/19 2.45 2.44 183
04/20/19 2.45 2.44 183
04/21/19 2.45 2.44 183
04/22/19 2.45 2.44 182
04/23/19 2.45 2.44 181
04/24/19 2.45 2.44 180

0.00006976322349099
1.000146954

Earnings Ratio:
Fair Value Factor:

Daily: 2.44%

PMIA Performance Report LAIF Performance Report

Date Daily Yield*

Quarter to 

Date Yield

Average 

Maturity  

(in days) Apportionment Rate: 2.55

Quarter Ending 03/31/19

Quarter to Date:
Average Life:

View Prior Month Daily Rates

PMIA Average Monthly  

Effective Yields

2.39%

*Daily yield does not reflect capital gains or losses

179

Treasuries
50.56%

Agencies
20.62%

Certificates of 
Deposit/Bank 

Notes
16.20%

Time Deposits
5.42%

Commercial 
Paper
6.22%

Loans
0.95%

Pooled Money Investment Account
Portfolio Composition 

03/31/19
$86.9 billion

Percentages may not total 100% due to rounding

Notes: The apportionment rate includes interest earned on the CalPERS Supplemental Pension Payment pursuant to 

Government Code 20825 (c)(1)

Based on data available as of 04/24/2019

Item 5B
4 of 5



Home  | Comments  | Disclosure Notice  | Privacy Notice  | Accessibility Statement  | Unclaimed Property  | Site Map  | Download Adobe Reader
© 2019 California State Treasurer's Office

Home ->> PMIA ->> PMIA Average Monthly Effective Yields

PMIA Average Monthly Effective Yields
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

1977 5.770 5.660 5.660 5.650 5.760 5.850 5.930 6.050 6.090 6.090 6.610 6.730

1978 6.920 7.050 7.140 7.270 7.386 7.569 7.652 7.821 7.871 8.110 8.286 8.769

1979 8.777 8.904 8.820 9.082 9.046 9.224 9.202 9.528 9.259 9.814 10.223 10.218

1980 10.980 11.251 11.490 11.480 12.017 11.798 10.206 9.870 9.945 10.056 10.426 10.961

1981 10.987 11.686 11.130 11.475 12.179 11.442 12.346 12.844 12.059 12.397 11.887 11.484

1982 11.683 12.044 11.835 11.773 12.270 11.994 12.235 11.909 11.151 11.111 10.704 10.401

1983 10.251 9.887 9.688 9.868 9.527 9.600 9.879 10.076 10.202 10.182 10.164 10.227

1984 10.312 10.280 10.382 10.594 10.843 11.119 11.355 11.557 11.597 11.681 11.474 11.024

1985 10.579 10.289 10.118 10.025 10.180 9.743 9.656 9.417 9.572 9.482 9.488 9.371

1986 9.252 9.090 8.958 8.621 8.369 8.225 8.141 7.844 7.512 7.586 7.432 7.439

1987 7.365 7.157 7.205 7.044 7.294 7.289 7.464 7.562 7.712 7.825 8.121 8.071

1988 8.078 8.050 7.945 7.940 7.815 7.929 8.089 8.245 8.341 8.397 8.467 8.563

1989 8.698 8.770 8.870 8.992 9.227 9.204 9.056 8.833 8.801 8.771 8.685 8.645

1990 8.571 8.538 8.506 8.497 8.531 8.538 8.517 8.382 8.333 8.321 8.269 8.279

1991 8.164 8.002 7.775 7.666 7.374 7.169 7.098 7.072 6.859 6.719 6.591 6.318

1992 6.122 5.863 5.680 5.692 5.379 5.323 5.235 4.958 4.760 4.730 4.659 4.647

1993 4.678 4.649 4.624 4.605 4.427 4.554 4.438 4.472 4.430 4.380 4.365 4.384

1994 4.359 4.176 4.248 4.333 4.434 4.623 4.823 4.989 5.106 5.243 5.380 5.528

1995 5.612 5.779 5.934 5.960 6.008 5.997 5.972 5.910 5.832 5.784 5.805 5.748

1996 5.698 5.643 5.557 5.538 5.502 5.548 5.587 5.566 5.601 5.601 5.599 5.574

1997 5.583 5.575 5.580 5.612 5.634 5.667 5.679 5.690 5.707 5.705 5.715 5.744

1998 5.742 5.720 5.680 5.672 5.673 5.671 5.652 5.652 5.639 5.557 5.492 5.374

1999 5.265 5.210 5.136 5.119 5.086 5.095 5.178 5.225 5.274 5.391 5.484 5.639

2000 5.760 5.824 5.851 6.014 6.190 6.349 6.443 6.505 6.502 6.517 6.538 6.535

2001 6.372 6.169 5.976 5.760 5.328 4.958 4.635 4.502 4.288 3.785 3.526 3.261

2002 3.068 2.967 2.861 2.845 2.740 2.687 2.714 2.594 2.604 2.487 2.301 2.201

2003 2.103 1.945 1.904 1.858 1.769 1.697 1.653 1.632 1.635 1.596 1.572 1.545

2004 1.528 1.440 1.474 1.445 1.426 1.469 1.604 1.672 1.771 1.890 2.003 2.134

2005 2.264 2.368 2.542 2.724 2.856 2.967 3.083 3.179 3.324 3.458 3.636 3.808

2006 3.955 4.043 4.142 4.305 4.563 4.700 4.849 4.946 5.023 5.098 5.125 5.129

2007 5.156 5.181 5.214 5.222 5.248 5.250 5.255 5.253 5.231 5.137 4.962 4.801

2008 4.620 4.161 3.777 3.400 3.072 2.894 2.787 2.779 2.774 2.709 2.568 2.353

2009 2.046 1.869 1.822 1.607 1.530 1.377 1.035 0.925 0.750 0.646 0.611 0.569

2010 0.558 0.577 0.547 0.588 0.560 0.528 0.531 0.513 0.500 0.480 0.454 0.462

2011 0.538 0.512 0.500 0.588 0.413 0.448 0.381 0.408 0.378 0.385 0.401 0.382

2012 0.385 0.389 0.383 0.367 0.363 0.358 0.363 0.377 0.348 0.340 0.324 0.326

2013 0.300 0.286 0.285 0.264 0.245 0.244 0.267 0.271 0.257 0.266 0.263 0.264

2014 0.244 0.236 0.236 0.233 0.228 0.228 0.244 0.260 0.246 0.261 0.261 0.267

2015 0.262 0.266 0.278 0.283 0.290 0.299 0.320 0.330 0.337 0.357 0.374 0.400

2016 0.446 0.467 0.506 0.525 0.552 0.576 0.588 0.614 0.634 0.654 0.678 0.719

2017 0.751 0.777 0.821 0.884 0.925 0.978 1.051 1.084 1.111 1.143 1.172 1.239

2018 1.350 1.412 1.524 1.661 1.755 1.854 1.944 1.998 2.063 2.144 2.208 2.291

2019 2.355 2.392 2.436

Home  | Open Government  | Careers  | Contact

Home PMIA Home Contacts Time Deposits LAIF

Search

Item 5B
5 of 5

https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/index.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/comments.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/disclaimer.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/privacy.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/accessibility.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/unclaimed.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/sitemap.asp
http://get.adobe.com/reader/
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/index.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/pmia.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/pmia.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/index.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/public.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/careers/index.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/inside/directory.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/index.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/pmia/index.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/pmia/contact.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/timedeposits/index.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/pmia-laif/laif.asp
https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/index.asp


Staff Report to City Council 

City of Colfax 1 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 Cash Summary Report – April 2019 

FOR THE MAY 22, 2019 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

From: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Prepared by: Laurie Van Groningen, Finance Director 

Subject: Cash Summary Report – April 2019 
Budget Impact Overview: 

N/A:   √ Funded: Un-funded: Amount: Fund(s): 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Accept and file. 

Summary/Background 

These monthly financial reports include General Fund Reserved Cash Analysis Graphs and the City of 

Colfax Cash Summary Report (with supporting documentation).  The reports are prepared monthly on 

a cash basis and are reconciled to the General Ledger accounting system, previous reports, and bank 

statements.  Detailed budget comparisons are provided as a mid-year report and also as part of the 

proposed budget process each year. 

The purpose of the reports is to provide status of funds and transparency for Council and the public of 

the financial transactions of the City. 

The attached reports reflect an overview of the financial transactions of the City of Colfax in 

April 2019.  Monthly highlights include: 

• Cash balance increases for April included Developer deposit of $150,000 from Colfax Auburn,

LLC (Developer).  Deposited to Mitigation Fees pending transfer to Roundabout project.

• Negative cash fund balances are due to timing of funding allocations and reimbursements.

o Fund 250 – To be funded by Streets & Roads monies through Placer County Transportation

Agency (PCTPA) and budgeted fund transfers (funds 100/253).  We received first

allocation of funding from PCTPA in December and second allocation has been deposited

in May. Full funding of budgeted transfers from Gas Tax Fund and General Fund will be

recorded in fiscal year end closing process.

o Capital Projects – All expenditures are anticipated to be reimbursed by grant funds,

developer fees (Note:  Funds currently in escrow accounts), Special Revenue funds, and

fund transfers as budgeted.

Item 5C
1 of 12



 

City of Colfax 2 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 Cash Summary Report – April 2019 
 

 

Attachments 
1. General Fund Reserved Cash Analysis Graphs 

a. Cash Analysis – Balance 

b. Expenses by Month 

c. Revenues by Month 

2. Cash Activity Reports  

a. Cash Summary 

b. Cash Transactions Report – by individual fund 

c. Check Register Report - Accounts Payable 

d. Daily Cash Summary Report (Cash Receipts) 

 

Item 5C
2 of 12



*This is a recommended General Fund Reserve Target of 25% (3 months) of annual General Fund Revenues.  The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) recommends that general‐

purpose governments establish unrestricted fund balance goals to be no less than two months of regular general fund operating revenues or regular expenditures.

Prev Yr Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Cash Balance FY2018‐19 $1,275 $1,398 $1,444 $1,447 $1,329 $1,420 $1,336 $1,672 $1,812 $1,760 $1,893

Cash Balance FY2017‐18 $1,086 $1,050 $828 $905 $954 $983 $962 $1,280 $1,212 $1,168 $1,250 $1,493 $1,396

Cash Balance FY2016‐17 $838 $829 $750 $835 $897 $802 $889 $1,133 $981 $1,022 $938 $1,034 $1,086

Cash Balance FY2015‐16 $768 $670 $666 $562 $561 $601 $466 $717 $647 $569 $605 $831 $838

Cash Balance FY2014‐15 $240 $181 $217 $167 $209 $284 $253 $528 $491 $489 $385 $691 $773

Cash Balance FY2013‐14 $15 $(57) $(20) $45 $(55) $(34) $36 $233 $134 $69 $79 $225 $240

Cash Balance FY2012‐13 $(287) $(286) $(314) $(438) $(383) $(391) $(380) $(221) $(173) $(144) $(212) $37 $15

*Reserves (Ops, Cap, Pen) $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645 $645

Budget FY2018‐19 $1,393 $1,385 $1,376 $1,368 $1,359 $1,351 $1,342 $1,334 $1,325 $1,317 $1,308 $1,300 $1,291

 $(1,000)

 $(500)

 $‐

 $500

 $1,000

 $1,500

 $2,000

 $2,500

City of Colfax ‐ April 2019
General Fund Reserved Cash Analysis

(Dollars in Thousands)

Fiscal Year 2018‐19  >>

* General Fund (GF) Reserves per adopted budget.

Item 5C
3 of 12



 $‐

 $50

 $100

 $150

 $200

 $250

 $300

 $350

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

City of Colfax ‐ April 2019
General Fund Reserved Cash ‐ Expenses by Month

(Dollars in Thousands)

General Expenses Sheriff/Fire Animal Control Contract

Payment ‐ Winner Property (Purchase loan pmt) Insurance Deposit to SCORE Risk Pool Audit, Grants, HR Consult

Capital Outlay/Repairs Legal Expenses

Item 5C
4 of 12



 $‐

 $50

 $100

 $150

 $200

 $250

 $300

 $350

 $400

 $450

 $500

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

City of Colfax ‐ April 2019
General Fund Reserved Cash ‐ Revenues by Month

(Dollars in Thousands)

Franchises (WAVE, Recology, PGE) Motor Vehicle In Lieu Other Property Tax Sales Tax Business Licenses Planning Fees Interest Income

Item 5C
5 of 12



City of Colfax 
Cash Summary 
April 30, 2019 

Balance Revenues In Expenses Out 03/31/2019 

US Bank $ 761,9B1.0B $ 608,545.08 $

LAIF $ 4,834,830.13 $ 28,504.00 
Total Cash - General Ledger $ St596,811.21 $ 637,049.08 $ 

Petty Cash (In Safe) $ 300.00 

Total Cash $ 5,597.111.21 $ 637,049.08 $

Change in Cash Account Balance· Total 

Attached Reports: 
1. Cash Transactions Report (By Individual Fund) 
2. Check Register Report (Accounts Payable) 
3. Cash Receipts • Daily Cash Summary Report

Payroll Checks and Tax Deposits 
Utility Billings - Receipts 
Service Charge/AdjNoids 
Developer Deposit - Escrow Acct 

Prepared by: 'r/,o.J.JJyj. VCVl �on-� 
Laurie Van Groningen,inance �or 

Reviewed by: .J}k � 
W�Heathcock, City Manager 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
s 

(321,236.68} $ 
$ 

!321 ,236.68! $

!321,236.68! $

s 

(208,989.62) 
419,247.03 
(96,479.46) 

173,530.45 
28,504.00 

315,812.40 $ 

Transfers Balance 
04/30/2019 

(125,000.00} $ 924,289,48 
125,000.00 $ 4,988,334.13 

$ 5,912,623.61 

$ 300,00 

$ 5,912,923.61 

315,812.40 

Item 5C
6 of 12



City of Colfax 

Cash Transactions Report - April 2019 

Beginning 
Balance 

Fund Type: 1.11 - General Fund - Unassigned 
Fund: 100 - General Fund $ 1,853,583.14 
Fund: 120- Land Development Fees $ 2,722.70 
Fund: 570 - Garbage Fund $ {95,264.20} 
Fund Type: 1.11 - General Fund - Unassigned $ 1,761,041.64 

Fund Type: 1.14 - General Fund - Restricted 
Fund: 200 - Cannibis Application $ 
Fund: 205 - Escrow Funds $ 671,644.85 
Fund: 571 - A8939 Landfill Diversion $ 26,917.26 
Fund: 572 - Landfill Post Closure Maintenance $ 781,211.10 
Fund Type: 1.14 - General Fund - Restricted $ 1

1
419,na.21 

Fund Type: 1.24 - Special Rev Funds - Restricted 
Fund: 210 - Mitigation Fees - Roads $ 
Fund: 211 - Mitigation Fees - Drainage $ 3,145.00 
Fund: 212 - Mitigation Fees - Trails $ 44,059.89 
Fund: 213 - Mitigation Fees - Parks/Rec $ 69,155.84 
Fund: 214 - Mitigation Fees - City Bldgs $ 
Fund: 215 - Mitigation Fees - Vehicles $ 
Fund: 217 - Mitigation Fees - DT Parking $ 
Fund: 218 - Support Law Enforcement $ 13,225.65 
Fund: 244 - CDBG Program Inc - ME Lending $ 205,538.32 
Fund: 250 - Streets - Roads/fransportation $ (70, 173.15) 
Fund: 253 - Gas Taxes/S81 Road Maint $ 49,860.75 
Fund: 270 - Beverage Container Recycling $ 18,393.92 
Fund: 280 - Oil Recycling $ 3,626.81 
Fund: 292 - Fire Department Capital Funds $ 88,918.68 
Fund: 342 - Fire Construction - Mitigation $ 2,505.06 
Fund: 343 - Recreation Construction $ 2,505.53 
Fund Type: 1.24 - Special Rev Funds - Restrict• $ 430,762.30 

Fund Type: 1.34 - Capital Projects• Restricted 
Fund: 300 - Capital Projects - Gen (ADA project) $ 
Fund: 351 - Rising Sun Project $ (104,631.61) 
Fund: 355 - CDBG Pavement - Culver $ (15,188.51) 
Fund: 385 - Roundabout $ {305,541.99} 
Fund Type: 1.34 - Capital Projects- Restricted $ (425,362.11) 

Fund Type: 2.11 • Enterprise Funds - Unassigned 
Fund: 560 - Sewer $ 1,027,784.64 
Fund: 561 - Sewer Liftstations $ 328,497.60 
Fund: 563 - Wastewater Treatment Plant $ 422,330.03 
Fund: 564 - Sewer Connections $ 41,080.00 
Fund: 567 - Inflow & Infiltration $ 530,903.90 
Fund Type: 2.11 - Enterprise Funds - Unassign, $ 2,350,596.17 

Fund Type: 9.0 - CLEARING ACCOUNT 
Fund: 998- PAYROLL CLEARING FUND $ 
Fund Type: 9.0 - CLEARING ACCOUNT $ 

Grand Totals: i 5
1
596

1811.21 

Debit 
Revenues 

$ 179,255.59 
$ 52,058.11 
$ 13,685.25 
$ ·244,998.95

$ 

$ 13.78 
$ 

$ 21,266.67 
$ 21,280.45 

$ 150,990.00 
$ 18.23 
$ 255.39 
$ 400.86 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 13,780.72 
$ 2,191.39 
$ 99.25 
$ 11,817.27 
$ 106.62 
$ 21.03 
$ 515.41 
$ 14.53 
$ 14.53 
$ 180,225.23 

$ 
$ 2,250.00 
$ 
$ 
$ 2,250.00 

$ 128,196.56 
$ 15,659.15 
$ 44,438.74 
$ 
$ 
$ 188,294.45 

$ 
$ 

i 6371049.08 

Credit 
{ExDenditu res l 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

i 

(106,053.99) $ 
(7,325.03) $ 

$ 

(113,379.02) $

$ 
$ 
$ 

(7,118.89} $ 
(7,118.89) $

$ 
$ 
$ 

(49,650.47) $ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

(17,143.51) $ 
(1,185.17) $ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

(67,979.15) $

$ 
(9,594.04) $ 
(1,130.35) $ 
{2,214.00} $ 

(12,938.39) $

(102,513.92) $ 
(17,307.31) $ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

(119,821.23) $

$ 
$ 

{321
1
236.68} l 

Ending 
Balance 

1,926,784.74 
47,455.78 

{81 ,578.95} 
1,892,661.57 

671,658.63 
26,917.26 

795,358.88 
1,493,934.77 

150,990.00 
3,163.23 

44,315.28 
19,906.23 

27,006.37 
207,729.71 
(87,217.41) 
60,492.85 
18,500.54 

3,647.84 
89,434.09 

2,519.59 
2,520.06 

543,008.38 

(111,975.65) 
(16,318.86) 

{307,755.99} 
(436,050.50) 

1,053,467.28 
326,849.44 
466,768.77 

41,080.00 
530,903.90 

2,419,069.39 

51912,623.61 

Item 5C
7 of 12



Check Register Report 

April 2019 Date: 05/08/2019 

Time: 3:53 pm 
CITY OF COLFAX BANK: US BANK Page: 1 

Check Check Status Vold/Stop Reconcile Vendor 
Vendor Name Check Description Amount Number Date Date Date Number 

US BANK Checks 

54506 04/05/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 03141 CALPERS HEALTH PREMIUMS APA 2019 7,747.94 
54507 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 01448 AMERIGAS - COLFAX DEPOT PROPANE 132.80 
54508 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 01460 AMERIPRIDE UNIFORM UNIFORM SVCS MAR 2019 562.B4

SERVICE 
54509 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 02829 BLUE RIBBON PERSONNEL WWTP TEMP LABOR THAU 416.33 

SERVICES 3/24/19 
54510 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 03121 CALIFORNIA BUILDING GREEN FEES COLLECTED LESS 2.70 

10% 
54511 04/04/201 !:Reconciled 04/30/2019 3158 CARROT-TOP INDUSTRIES, CITY FLAGS 627.32 

INC. 
54512 04/04/201 !:Reconciled 04/30/2019 03435 CITY OF AUBURN PCCOA DINNER 150.00 
54513 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 04532 DIVISION OF STATE ARCHITECIO% OF SB1186 FEES 5.20 

COLLECTED 
54514 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 07570 GRAINGER WWTP FIRST AIDE SUPPLIES 33.n
54515 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 08660 HUNT AND SONS, INC. PW/INWTP FUEL 552.56 
54516 04/04/201 !:Reconciled 04/30/2019 16011 (2) PELLETREAU, ALDERSON & LEGAL SVCS MAR 2019 4,575.96 

CABRAL 
54517 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 18400 RIEBES AUTO PARTS STMT 3/31/19 565.14 
54518 04/04/2015 Reconciled 04/30/2019 18587 ROSS RECREATION BALLPARK BLEACHER SHADE 48,650.47 

EQUIPMENT STRUC 
54519 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 21560 US BANK CORPORATE PMT STMT 3/22/19 2,535.80 

SYSTEM 
54520 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 22106 VAN GRONINGEN & DEC 2018 CORRECTION OF INV 5,857.83 

ASSOCIATES 
54521 04/04/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 23169 WAVE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS FIRE DEPT RECEIVER RENTAL 36.97 
54522 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 01414 ALHAMBRA & SIERRA SPRINGSVWTP/CITY HALL WATER 121.90 
54523 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 01448 AMERIGAS • COLFAX SHERIFF DEPT PROPANE 399.91 
54524 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 01448 AMERIGAS • COLFAX FIRE DEPT PROPANE 104.64 
54525 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 01448 AMERIGAS • COLFAX CITY HALL PROPANE 670.14 
54526 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 01766 AT&T MOBILITY CITY CELL PHONES 714.29 
54527 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 01785 AUBURN JOURNAL, INC. ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION 78.00 
54528 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 02829 BLUE RIBBON PERSONNEL WWTP TEMP LABOR 3/31/19 512.40 

SERVICES 
54529 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 03482 CLEAR PATH LAND ANNUAL DAM REPORTING 1,250.00 

EVOLVEMENT, 
54530 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 3126 CRAFCO ASPHALT COLD PATCH 841.87 
54531 04/11/2019Reconciled 04/30/2019 04234 DE LAGE LANDEN FINANCIAL APR 2019 COPY MACH MAINT 468.34 
54532 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 07570 GRAINGER WWTP SUPPLIES 52.81 
54533 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 0B070 HANSEN BROS. ENTERPRISES:>EPOT BARK 486.49 
54534 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 08660 HUNT AND SONS, INC. Fl RE DEPT FUEL 232.60 
54535 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 12200 LEAGUE OF CALIFORNIA DIVISION MEETING 25.00 

CITIES 
54536 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 13262 MEYERS NAVE LEGAL MATTER 2019.002 107.10 
54537 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 13405 MOTOR ELECTRIC GRINDER PUMP APA 7,894.64 
54538 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 16189 PLACER COUNTY FIRE STATION SURVEY REVIEW 375.00 

FEE 
54539 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 16163 PLACER COUNTY CLERK ELECTION FEES 2018 2,913.56 
54540 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 19037 SAFE SIDE SECURITY CORP YARD SECURITY APA 2019 95.00 
54541 04/11/2019 Printed 19387(2) SIERRA FOOTHILLS LITTLE EVENT DEPOSIT REFUND 100.00 

LEAGUE 
54542 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 01790 SIERRA OFFICE PRODUCTS STMT 4/1/19 135.03 
54543 04/11/2019 Reconciled 04/30/2019 1433 STEVE MCCRARY DUMP TRUCK TIRES 571.60 
54544 04/11/2019Reconclled 04/30/2019 20054 TARGET SPECIALTY LAWN CARE PRODUCTS 419.B4

PRODUCTS 
54545 04/11/2019Aeconclled 04/30/2019 22134 VISION QUEST WEBSITE BUILD 2,907.75 
54546 04/11/2019Reconclled 04/30/2019 23169 WAVE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS CORP YARD INTERNET 54.90 
54547 04/11/2019Reconclled 04/30/2019 9585 I.S. TOURS CAP-TO-CAP MEETING - MARNIE 3,895.00 
54548 04/10/2015 Reconciled 04/30/2019 2087 BASIC PACIFIC FSA BENEFIT PAYMENT 9.47 
54549 04/15/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 02829 BLUE RIBBON PERSONNEL WWTP TEMP LABOR THAU 4/4/19 512.40 

SERVICES 
54550 04/15/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 02901 BUREAU VEAITAS NORTH BLDG OFFICIAL SVCS MAR 2019 5,440.00 

AMERICA 
54551 04/15/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 03401 CHOICE BUILDER MAY 2019 PREMIUMS 751.B0 

Item 5C
8 of 12



Check Register Report 

April 2019 Date: 

Time: 
CITY OF COLFAX BANK: US BANK Page: 

Check Check Status 
Number Date 

US BANK Checks 

54552 04/15/201 E Reconciled 

54553 04/15/201 E Reconciled 
54554 04/15/2015 Reconciled 
54555 04/15/2015 Reconciled 

Vold/Stop Reconcile Vendor 
Date Date Number 

04/30/2019 03493 

04/30/2019 13405 
04/30/2019 16035 

04/30/2019 09095 
54556 04/15/201 E Reconciled 04/30/2019 19650 

54557 04/15/201 EReconciled 04/30/2019 1434 

54558 04/15/201!:Void 04/22/2015 22048 

54559 04/23/201 € Printed 1161 
54560 04/23/201!:Reconciled 04/30/2019 01448 
54561 04/23/201EReconciled 04/30/2019 01650 
54562 04/23/201EReconciled 04/30/2019 02901 

54563 04/23/201!:Reconciled 04/30/2019 04592 
54564 04/23/2015 Reconciled 

54565 04/23/201EPrinted 

54566 04/23/2015 Reconciled 
54567 04/23/201EReconciled 
54568 04/23/2015 Reconciled 
54569 04/23/2015Reconciled 
54570 04/23/201EReconciled 
54571 04/23/201 £Reconciled 
54572 04/23/201 E Reconciled 
54573 04/23/201!.Reconciled 
5457 4 04/23/201 € Reconciled 
54575 04/30/2015 Printed 
54576 04/30/201!.Printed 
545n 04/30/201!.Printed 

54578 04/30/201!.Printed 

54579 04/30/201€Printed 

54580 04/30/201!.Printed 
54581 04/30/201!:Printed 

54582 04/30/201!:Printed 
54583 04/30/201€Printed 
54584 04/30/2015Printed 
54585 04/30/201€Printed 
54586 04/30/201EPrinted 
54587 04/30/201€Printed 

54588 04/30/201EPrinted 

54589 04/30/201 € Printed 

54590 04/30/201EPrinted 
54591 04/30/201€Printed 
54592 04/30/201€Printed 
54593 04/30/201€Printed 
54594 04/30/201 E Printed 
54638 04/30/201 € Reconciled 

04/30/2019 04260 

05120 

04/30/2019 7223 
04/30/2019 07460 
04/30/2019 07570 
04/30/2019 08050 
04/30/2019 12180 
04/30/2019 16300 
04/30/2019 8663 

04/30/2019 23169 
04/30/2019 23169 

1425 
01500 
02901 

03204(2) 

05221 

06278 
07460 

08070 
08660 
09540 
10510 
13405 
14356 

16202 

18194 

19396 
22240 
23169 
23169 
18883 

04/30/2019 2087 

Total Checks: 90 

Total Payments: 90 

Vendor Name 

COASTLAND CIVIL 
ENGINEERING 
MOTOR ELECTRIC 
PG&E 
JEFF SCOTT 
STATE BOARD OF 
EQUALIZATION 
STEWART TITLE 

Check Descript ion 

ENG SVCS MAR 2019 

WWTP PUMP REPAIR 
ELECTRICITY 
2019 PARTIAL BOOT ALLOWANCE 

SELF ASSESSED SALES TAX 01 
19 
LOT OF ART PURCHASE DEPOSIT 

VALLEY TRUCK & TRACTOR TRACTOR PARTS 
co. 

49ER WATER SERVICES WWTP JAN MONTHLY TESTING 
AMERIGAS - COLFAX DEPOT PROPANE 
AQUA SIERRA CONTROLS INCCALIBRATE METER 
BUREAU VERITAS NORTH ENG SVCS MAR 2019 
AMERICA 
DACOMM WTP INTERNET 
DEPARTMENT OF WATER DAM STORAGE FEES 
RESOURCES 
EDWARDS HEATING & CITY HALL HVAC SVC 
COOLING 
GEOCON CONSULTANTS INC. POND 3 GEOTECHNICAL 
GOLD COUNTRY MEDIA 
GRAINGER 
HACH COMPANY 

COLFAX NET PUBLIC NOTICE 

WWTP SAFETY SUPPLIES 
WWTP LAB SUPPLIES 

LAWRENCE & ASSOCIATES INCANDFILL MONITORING MAR 2019 
PCWA ·PLACER COUNTY 
TEKNIGRAFIX 

CITY WATER 
FIRE DEPT HELMET GRAPHICS 

WAVE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS CITY HALL INTERNET 
WAVE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS DEPOT PHONE 
ALL STAR FIRE EQUIPMENT FIRE DEPT SAFETY GEAR 
ANDERSON'S SIERRA CITY IRRIGATION SUPPLIES 
BUREAU VERITAS NORTH SIERRA OAKS PLAN CHK 
AMERICA 
CENTRAL VALLEY RISING SUN RETENTION BILLING 
ENGINEERING & 

EOSI - ENVIRONMENT WWTP CHEMICALS 
OPERATING 
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONSWWTP PHONE 
GOLD COUNTRY MEDIA ROUNDABOUT NOTICE TO 

BIDDERS 
HANSEN BROS. ENTERPRISE$. AUBURN ROCK FILLER 
HUNT AND SONS, INC. 
INTERSTATE SALES 
JOSEPH SCHWIND 
MOTOR ELECTRIC 

PW/WWTP FUEL 
ROAD APR SUPPLIES 
TRACTOR APR 
WWTP MOTOR APR 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA PW SAFETY SUPPLIES 
GLOVE 
PLACER COUNTY OES FISCALO3 2019 FIRE PROTECTION 
UNIT 
RGS - REGIONAL GOV PLANNING SVCS MAR 2019 
SERVICES 
SIERRA SAFETY COMPANY STREET REPAIRS 
VULCAN MATERIALS COMPAN:ASPHALT 
WAVE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS FIRE DEPT PHONE 
WAVE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS CITY HALL PHONE 
WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY PW SUPPLIES 
BASIC PACIFIC APR 2019 FSA FEES 

Checks Total (excludlng void checks): 

Bank Total (excluding void checks): 

05/08/2019 

3:53 pm 

2 

Amount 

4,393.75 

1,488.36 
14,613.22 

182.29 
269.14 

1,000.00 
0.00 

7,371.00 
127.79 

2,812.65 
3,990.00 

99.95 
21,030.00 

79.00 

1,815.00 

296.48 
169.20 
530.56 

1,908.75 
8TT.37 
157.55 
159.90 

17.21 
729.30 
762.46 

9,125.00 

8,229.66 

5,226.69 

183,23 
434.42 

224.15 
440.19 
227.37 
300.00 

1,539.41 
396.07 

7,047.30 

4,725.00 

344.60 
450.43 

35.19 
214.01 
325.86 

45.00 

208,989.62 

208,989.62 

Item 5C
9 of 12



DAILY CASH SUMMARY REPORT 

Cash Receipts - April 2019 Page: 1 

04/0 I /2019 - 04/30/2019 5/8/2019 

City of Colfax 
3:45 pm 

Debit Credit Net Chng 

Fund: 100 • General Fund 

04/02/2019 Daily Totals 64.25 0.00 64.25 

04/03/2019 Daily Totals 1,142.25 0.00 1,142.25 

04/04/2019 Daily Totals 216.50 0.00 216.50 

04/05/2019 Daily Totals 322.50 0.00 322.50 

04/08/2019 Daily Totals 641.34 0.00 641.34 

04/10/2019 Daily Totals 651.61 0.00 651.61 

04/11/2019 Daily Totals 160.00 0.00 160.00 

04/12/2019 Daily Totals 23,652.82 0.00 23,652.82 

04/15/2019 Daily Totals 120.00 187.35 -67.35

04/18/2019 Daily Totals 2,866.00 0.00 2,866.00 

04/22/2019 Daily Totals 1.00 0.00 1.00 

04/23/2019 Daily Totals 242.75 0.00 242.75 

04/24/2019 Daily Totals 111,584.37 0.00 111,584.37 

04/25/2019 Daily Totals 2,046.73 0.00 2,046.73 

04/26/2019 Daily Totals 3,693.07 0.00 3,693.07 

04/30/2019 Daily Totals 6,353.79 0.00 6,353.79 

Fund: 100 - General Fund TOTALS: 153,758.98 187.3S 153,571.63 

Fund: 120 • Land Development Fees 

04/02/2019 Daily Totals 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 

04/10/2019 Daily Totals 555.58 0.00 555.58 

04/18/2019 Daily Totals 2,400.00 0.00 2.400.00 

04/25/2019 Daily Totals 5,736.84 0.00 5,736.84 

04/30/2019 Daily Totals 30,865.69 0.00 30,865.69 

Fund: 120 • Land Development Fees TOTALS: 49,558.11 0.00 49,558.11 

Fund: 20S • Escrow Account • Developers 

04/30/2019 Daily Totals 13.78 0.00 13.78 

Fund: 20S - Escrow Account • Developers TOTALS: 13.78 o.oo 13.78 

Fund: 210 - Mitigation Fees • Roads 

Limited to include: JE Types of: CR 

Item 5C
10 of 12



DAILY CASH SUMMARY REPORT 

Cash Receipts • April 2019 Page: 2 

04/0I/2019 - 04/30/20 I 9 5/8/2019 

3:45 pm 
City of Colfax 

Debit Credit NctChng 

04/10/2019 Daily Totals 150,990.00 0.00 150,990.00 

Fund: 210 • Mitigation Fees • Roads TOTALS: 150,990.00 0.00 150,990.00 

Fund: 218 • Support Law Enforcement 

04/12/2019 Daily Totals 13,780.72 0.00 13.780.72 

Fund: 218 • Support Law Enforcement TOTALS: 13,780.72 0.00 13,780.72 

Fund: 244 • CDBG MicroEnterprise Lending 

04/05/2019 Daily Totals 1.000.00 0.00 1,000.00 

Fund: 244 • CDBG MicroEnterprise Lending TOTALS: 1,000.00 o.oo 1,000.00 

Fund: 250 • Streets • Roads/Transportution 

04/02/2019 Daily Totals 90.00 0.00 90.00 

Fund: 250 • Streets • Roads/Transportation TOTALS: 90.00 0.00 90.00 

Fund: 253 • Gas Taxes 

04/02/2019 Daily Totals 4,387.24 0,00 4.387.24 

04/22/2019 Daily Totals 3,984.93 0.00 3,984.93 

04/30/2019 Daily Totals 3,182.87 0.00 3,182.87 

Fund: 253 • Gas Taxes TOTALS: 11,555.04 o.oo 11,555.04 

Fund: 351 • Rising Sun Project 

04/18/2019 Daily Totals 2,250.00 0.00 2,250.00 

Fund: 351 • Rising Sun Project TOTALS: 2,250.00 0.00 2,250.00 

Fund: 560 • Sewer 

04/03/2019 Daily Totals 61.33 0.00 61.33 

04/04/2019 Daily Totals 200.00 0.00 200.00 

04/09/2019 Daily Totals 400.00 0.00 400.00 

04/10/2019 Daily Totals 417.50 0.00 417.50 

Fund: 560 • Sewer TOTALS: 1,078.83 0.00 1,078.83 

Fund: 561 • Sewer Liftslations 

04/18/2019 Daily Totals 407.00 0.00 407.00 

Limited to include: JE Types of: CR 

Item 5C
11 of 12



DAILY CASH SUMMARY REPORT 

Cash Receipts - April 2019 Page: 3 

04/01/2019 - 04/30/2019 5/8/2019 
3:45 pm 

City of Colfax 

Debit Credit Net Chng 

Fund: 561 • Sewer Lirtstations TOTALS: 407.00 0.00 407.00 

Fund: 570 • Garbage Fund 

04/22/2019 Daily Totals 13,685.25 0.00 13,685.25 

Fund: 570 • Garbage Fund TOTALS: 13,685.25 0.00 13,685.25 

Fund: 572 • Lundnll Post Closure Muinten 

04/22/2019 Daily Totals 21,266.67 0.00 21.266.67 

Fund: 572 • Landfill Post Closure Mninten TOTALS: 21,266.67 0.00 21,266.67 

GRAND TOTALS: 419,434.38 187.35 419,247.03 

Limited to include: JE Types of: CR 

Item 5C
12 of 12



 
 

 

Staff Report to City Council 
 

  

  

  
 

City of Colfax 1 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 City Funding Support for Colfax 3rd of July Event 
 

 

 

FOR THE MAY 22, 2019 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

From: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Prepared by: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Subject: City Funding Support for Colfax 3rd of July Event 
Budget Impact Overview: 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Adopt Resolution 14-2019 authorizing a $500 donation to Colfax 
Green Machine, coordinators of the 2019 3rd of July event, to be used towards the purchase of 
fireworks for the 2019 3rd of July event. 

 

 

Summary/Background 

 

The City Council of the City of Colfax traditionally donates $500 to support certain City-wide events 

each year. The City requires the organizer request the funding amount and how the money will be spent. 

The Colfax Green Machine, organizers of the 2019 3rd of July event, have requested $500 to go toward 

the purchase of fireworks for the event which is scheduled for July 3rd, 2019. 

 

Staff recommends the authorizing of the donation of $500 for Colfax 3rd of July fireworks. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachments 
1. Resolution 14-2019 

 

Item 5D
1 of 2



City of Colfax 1 

Resolution 14-2019 City Funding Support for Colfax 3rd of July Event 
 

City of Colfax 
City Council 

 

Resolution № 14-2019 
 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COLFAX 

AUTHORIZING A $500 DONATION TO COLFAX GREEN MACHINE, 

COORDINATORS OF THE 3rd OF JULY EVENT, TO BE USED TOWARDS THE 

PURCHASE OF FIREWORKS FOR THE 2019 3rd OF JULY EVENT 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Colfax traditionally donates $500 to support certain City-

wide events each year; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the City requires the organizer to request the funding amount and how the money will be 

spent; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Colfax Green Machine, organizers of the 2019 3rd of July event, have requested $500 to 

go towards the purchase of fireworks for the event which is scheduled for July 3rd, 2019. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City Council of the City of Colfax, approves a donation of 

$500 to Colfax Green Machine to go towards the purchase of fireworks for the 3rd of July event in 2019. 
 

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED at the Regular 

Meeting of the City Council of the City of Colfax held on the 22nd day of May 2019 by the following vote 

of the Council: 
 

AYES:    

NOES:   

ABSTAIN:   

ABSENT:   

 
 

       _________________________________________ 

         Joe Fatula, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:             

____________________________________ 

Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

 

 

 

 

Item 5D
2 of 2



 
 

 

Staff Report to City Council 
 

  
  
  

 

City of Colfax 1 
Staff Report May 22, 2019 Colfax Net Tower Council Business 

 

 

 

FOR THE MAY 22, 2019 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

From: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 
Prepared by: Amy Feagans, Planning Director 
Subject: Colfax Net Variance to allow a reduced setback to permit installation of a 60-80-

foot-high telecommunication tower with antennas 
Budget Impact Overview: 

N/A:   √ Funded: Un-funded: Amount: Fund(s): 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Review and discuss the options and take final action. 
 

 
Project Notice: 
Project Title:   Colfax Net Setback Variance  
Applicant/Owner:  Corey Juchau/Robert Amick 
Location:   Sierra Sky Court   
Land Use (existing)  Vacant, undeveloped (Wireless Communication antennas in trees) 
 
Surrounding Uses  

North:   Large Lot Single family residence 
South:   Large Lot Single family residence 
East:   Large lot Single family residence 
West:   Large lot Single family residence 

 
Assessor’s Parcel Number: 100-100-030 
Zoning District:  R-1-10, Single family residential 
General Plan Designation: Low density Residential 
 
Project Background 
 
Project Request: 
The applicant, Corey Juchau owner of Colfax Net, applied for a variance from section 17.132.030- A9 
of the zoning ordinance to construct a maximum 80-foot high telecommunications tower within 10 feet 
of the property line instead of the 160-foot setback the zoning code requires for an 80-foot tower. If the 
variance is approved, a new tower will replace a dead tree that is currently housing the Colfax Net 
antennas to provide internet service to Colfax Net customers (refer to Attachment 1). The site is located 
on Sierra Sky Court, near the top of the ridge on Beacon Hill. The applicant has a recorded easement 
that allows him use of an approximately 50’ by 50’ section in the northwest corner of an 8.5-acre parcel 
adjacent to two residential parcels. A map showing the general location of the dead tree and the proposed 
location of the tower is attached as Attachment 2. The easement language is very specific and was 
granted for “the purpose of locating, constructing, operating and maintaining communication facilities 

Item 8A
1 of 33



 

City of Colfax 2 
Staff Report May 22, 2019 Colfax Net Tower Council Business 

 

 

owned or operated by the grantee.” (See attachment 3). The applicant does not have the right to construct 
a tower outside the easement area. Because the easement is located near the corner of the parcel, the 
applicant is seeking approval of a variance to allow for a substandard setback from property lines so the 
tower can be constructed within the easement boundaries. 
 
April 24, 2019 Public Hearing 
 
This project was originally heard as a public hearing at the April 24, 2019 City Council meeting. At that 
meeting there was significant amount of public comment both in support of and opposition to the setback 
variance. After closing the public hearing, the Council discussed the project at length and then voted to 
continue the item to the second meet in May 2019 to allow the applicant to provide additional information 
and to identify other alternatives available. 
 
Additional Information Requested 
 
The Council asked the applicant to provide the following: 

1. Confirmation of approval from PG&E 
2. Professional survey of the dead tree 
3. Proposed use of new tower space 
4. Available options in lieu of the tower 

 
 Response to Council Request 
 
The applicant, Corey Juchau has provided the following materials and information in response to the 
Council’s request at the last meeting: 
 

1. PG&E approval: Copies of email correspondence between applicant and PG&E regarding 
installation of power to the site. (Attachment 4) 
 

2. Tree survey:  Applicant has indicated this will be completed prior to construction of tower. Staff 
would prefer to have this information prior to the final decision of City Council as the height was 
a topic of discussion at the last meeting as it relates to the agreement the applicant has with the 
property owner. 
 

3. Proposed use of tower space:  Applicant submitted a list of antennas that will be installed. The 
plan is to consolidate the antennas that existing not only in the dead tree but also the antennas 
from the four other trees in the area. (refer to attachment 5) 
 

4. Option considered in lieu of the proposed tower: Applicant submitted a list of options considered. 
(refer to attachment 6) 
 

The applicant also provided the following additional information: 
 

• Proposed scope of work (Attachment 7) 
• A timeline of proposed work - estimated to take five months from issuance of building permit. 

(Attachment 8) 
• A letter from his attorney (Attachment 9) 

Item 8A
2 of 33



 

City of Colfax 3 
Staff Report May 22, 2019 Colfax Net Tower Council Business 

 

 

 
Variance Findings 
 

Colfax Municipal Code Section 17.40.070 G requires the Council to make all of the following findings 
to approve a variance: 
 

1. There are special circumstances applicable to the property, including size, shape, topography, 
location or surroundings, such that the strict application of the provisions of this zoning 
ordinance deprives the property of privileges enjoyed by other property in the vicinity and 
under identical land use. 

2. The granting of the variance does not constitute a grant of special privileges inconsistent with 
the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which the property is located. 

3. The granting of the variance does not allow a use or activity which is not otherwise expressly 
authorized by the regulations governing the subject parcel. 

4. The granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare, or 
injurious to the property or improvements in such vicinity and land use district in which the 
property is located. 
 

Environmental Review: 
 

The project is categorically exempt from CEQA review pursuant to Section 15303 (New Construction 
or Conversion of Small Structures) of the CEQA Guidelines.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 

The four options proposed by staff at the last meeting are still appropriate for the variance consideration. 
Staff recommends the City Council take one of the following actions and direct staff to prepare the 
appropriate findings to support the decision made: 
 

1. Approve the Variance as requested - findings required 
2. Deny the Variance – findings required 
3. Approve the Variance with conditions – conditions and findings required 
4. Continue the item and request additional information 

 

This item is a semi-judicial action and requires a majority of the full Council (three “yes” votes) to 
approve any of the actions listed above. 
 

Attachments 
1. Photograph of existing dead tree with antennas 
2. Site Plan 
3. Easement language 
4. Email correspondence with PG&E 
5. Proposed use of tower space 
6. Options considered 
7. Proposed scope of work 
8. Timeline of proposed work 
9. Letter dated 5/16/19 from R. Monti Reynolds, Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, Attorney for applicant 
10. Location/parcel map 

Item 8A
3 of 33



Attachment 1
Photograph of existing dead tree with antennas

Item 8A
4 of 33



Attachment 2
Site Plan

Item 8A
5 of 33



Attachment 3
Easement Language

Item 8A
6 of 33



Attachment 3
Easement Language

Item 8A
7 of 33



Attachment 3
Easement Language

Item 8A
8 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
9 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
10 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
11 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
12 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
13 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
14 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
15 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
16 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
17 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
18 of 33



Attachment 4
Email correspondence with PG&E

Item 8A
19 of 33



Tree Manufacturer Item Direction 
Height-
approx  

Lower East Tree UBNT 
M5 w/ RF Armor 
shield S (160) 76 1 

  Trango T45 Mesh grid S (160) 73   

 Mimosa M24 S (160) 71 1 

 UBNT AG-24 S (160) 69 1 

  Trango T45 14" panel S (160) 68   

 Mimosa B5 S (160) 64 1 

 Mimosa B5 S (160) 60 1 

      

S dead tree UHF bow tie         

      

N dead tree Trango Tlink45-14"panel SW(230) 47   

  Mimosa B5 SW(230) 46 1 

 Mimosa B5c AP unit 45 1 

  2' dish NW(329) 45  

 UBNT 
M5 w/ RF Armor 
shield W(320) 42 1 

 UBNT 
M5 w/ RF Armor 
shield W(270) 40 1 

      

      

      

North tree Airspan 3.65 BSR AP unit 70 1 

 Hyperlink 4105hyp011 
omni 
(360) 70  

 UBNT 
M5 w/ RF Armor 
shield N(317) 65 1 

 Mimosa B5 E(47) 65 1 

 UBNT 
M5 w/ RF Armor 
shield S(150) 65 1 

 UBNT M5 W(270) 65 1 

 Mimosa B5 W(300) 50 1 

 UBNT M5 W(270) 45 1 

 Mimosa B5 S(160) 35 1 

      

      

Middle Lower Tree      

 UBNT AC5-W W(300) 83 1 

  Mimosa B5c AP unit 80 1 

  2' dish NW(329) 80  

      

Tree top of drive on right      

 Mimosa B5 SW(230) 70 1 

    Total lbs 20 
 

Attachment 5
Proposed use of tower space

Item 8A
20 of 33



ColfaxNet, LLC 
PO Box 1597 
Colfax, CA 95713  
530.346.8411 
cs@colfaxnet.com 
 
 
 
 

 

May 4, 2019 
 
Amy Feagans 
City of Colfax Planning Department 
33 S Main Street 
Colfax, CA 95713 
 
 
Amy: 
 
Here is the list you requested of other options ColfaxNet is considering: 
 

 

• Inspect property on Colfax Hill to determine feasibility of locating 
tower at different locations within Mr. Amick’s property 

 

• Lease space on the towers on hill to the South of our easement 
o Requested feasibility and price quotes from both tower 

companies. Currently waiting for their responses. They 
estimated they will provide middle of next week. 

o Would not work without significant reorientation of other 
sites’ antennas 

o Additional site(s) would need to be obtained due to line-of-
site restrictions 
 

• Install 3 wooden utility poles in place of metal tower 
 

• Move Colfax Hill equipment to an entirely different location 
o Would not work without significant reorientation of other 

sites’ antennas 
o Additional site(s) would need to be obtained due to line-of-

site restrictions 
o Extremely expensive 

Attachment 6
Options considered Item 8A

21 of 33

mailto:cs@colfaxnet.com


o May not be able to obtain backbone connection depending 
on location of new site which would require additional sites 
to repeat signal to main hub 

o Significant interruptions during transition 
 

•  
 

Attachment 6
Options considered Item 8A

22 of 33



ColfaxNet, LLC 
PO Box 1597 
Colfax, CA 95713  
530.346.8411 
cs@colfaxnet.com 
 
 
 
 

 

May 4, 2019 

 
 
Amy Feagans 
City of Colfax Planning Department 
33 S Main Street 
Colfax, CA 95713 
 
 
 
Amy: 
 
Here is the scope of work for the Colfax Hill tower project. 
 

1. Have licensed surveyor determine exact height of dead tree with 
equipment in it prior to removal 
 

2. Install flush-mount junction box, power meter and 300’ of 3” 
conduit from existing power transformer on Sierra Sky Court to 
tower site, using existing PUE along East side of Sierra Sky Court 
then up embankment to our 55’ x 50’ easement area 
 

3. Install 6’ x 6’ concrete slab inside recorded easement 
 

4. Install weatherproof equipment enclosure at site on 6’ x 6’ 
concrete slab 
 

5. Install temporary Internet equipment to be used while tower is 
being installed 
 

6. Remove two dead trees 
 

7. Level out area where trees were to match area’s grade 

Attachment 7
Proposed scope of work Item 8A

23 of 33

mailto:cs@colfaxnet.com


8. Paint tower a color to be determined by the City of Colfax Planning
Department

9. Install tower at same location and height as dead tree that had
equipment in it

10. Relocate and activate all equipment existing outside of
recorded easement to new tower at various heights and
orientations. (depending on adjacent tree cover) Paint Internet
equipment the same color as tower

11. Clean up work area and remove all old wires, conduits and
equipment on Mr. Amick’s property

Attachment 7
Proposed scope of work Item 8A

24 of 33



Attachment 8
Timeline of proposed work

Item 8A
25 of 33



Attachment 9
         Letter dated 5/16/19 from Monti Reynolds, 

         Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, 
         Attorney for applicant

Item 8A
26 of 33



Attachment 9
         Letter dated 5/16/19 from Monti Reynolds, 

         Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, 
         Attorney for applicant

Item 8A
27 of 33



Attachment 9
         Letter dated 5/16/19 from Monti Reynolds, 

         Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, 
         Attorney for applicant

Item 8A
28 of 33



Attachment 9
         Letter dated 5/16/19 from Monti Reynolds, 

         Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, 
         Attorney for applicant

Item 8A
29 of 33



Attachment 9
         Letter dated 5/16/19 from Monti Reynolds, 

         Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, 
         Attorney for applicant

Item 8A
30 of 33



Attachment 9
         Letter dated 5/16/19 from Monti Reynolds, 

         Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, 
         Attorney for applicant

Item 8A
31 of 33



Attachment 9
         Letter dated 5/16/19 from Monti Reynolds, 

         Reynolds Tilbury Woodward LLP, 
         Attorney for applicant

Item 8A
32 of 33



Attachment 10
Location/parcel map

Item 8A
33 of 33



 
 

 

Staff Report to City Council 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Colfax 1 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 Solace Graphics Community Branding Agreement 
 

 

 

FOR THE MAY 22, 2019 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

From: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Prepared by: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Subject: Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net – Community Branding 
Budget Impact Overview: 

N/A:    Funded: √ Un-funded: Amount:$4,110 Fund(s):110 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Discuss and consider adopting Resolution 15-2019 authorizing the 

City Manager to enter into an agreement with Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net for Community Branding 

Services in an amount not to exceed $4,110. 
 

 

Summary/Background 

 

The City Council of the City of Colfax has expressed value in supporting the ongoing economic 

development of the City and improve the quality of life for residents. City Council continues to support 

businesses through approval of managed land development, sponsoring community events, and 

actively working with The Colfax Area Chamber of Commerce.  

 

Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net is a marketing and signage company that works with clients to establish 

winning brand and communication strategies.  In partnership with The Colfax Area Chamber of 

Commerce, Staff has explored a community branding concept with Solace Graphics/Thumber.net to 

expand the City’s efforts to improve economic development.  Working together with the Chamber, the 

City could develop a cohesive “brand” which would effectively use limited resources to inspire and 

build communication with the public.  The objective would be to create a cohesive plan which will 

draw the public toward the City and improve economic viability through an effective theme resulting 

in signage in a variety of shapes and sizes, all of which have a consistent, look, feel and brand for the 

City of Colfax.  

 

The proposed agreement with Solace Graphic/Thumber.net consists of three phases to achieve the 

branding design objectives: 

 

Phase 1 

Solace/Thumbler are prepared to dedicate 10 hours, meeting with stakeholders, collecting 

input and existing working drawings for signs and graphics. This will include compiling 

dimensions and locations for each sign to be included in this initial plan. With this, 

Item 8B
1 of 35



 

City of Colfax 2 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 Solace Graphics Community Branding Agreement 
 

 

Solace/Thumbler will prepare a systematic approach and recommendations to the City of 

Colfax. 

Deliverable: One (1) two-hour meeting, recommendations overview draft. Visit each selected 

sign site, compile dimensions, report conditions and photograph. Review these 

recommendations, collect input and then revise and submit this as a three to five (3-5) page 

document to the City Manager for approval and presentation to City Council, if desired. (10 

hours, $750) 

Phase 2 

With all stakeholder input and an agreed approach, Solace/Thumbler will prepare three (3) sign 

sketches with varied treatments, review and go through two (2) sets of revisions to establish a 

systematic, unified design solution for the City of Colfax signs. This design theme will be used 

to build brand unity with all future signs for the City of Colfax. Note: This proposal utilizes 

existing elements and does not include a brand for the City of Colfax. A brand exists, which can 

be revised minimally and further specified for uniform future applications.  

Deliverable: Using the information compiled in the initial report, Solace/Thumbler will 

dedicate 20 hours to artwork preparation, review and presentation as outlined above. The 

deliverable within this time frame is contingent on following the allocated process. The 

selected, approved sign design will be shown as applied on a minimum of three (3) signs. (20 

hours, $1,500). Additional hours to refine the existing brandmark are also available on request 

at $75 per hour. 

Phase 3 

Working from the approved plan created in Phase 2, Solace/Thumbler will prepare artwork 

layouts to size for each of the six to eight (6-8) signs specified in Phase 1. This artwork will be 

used to build brand unity with City of Colfax signs and can be developed as funding and needs 

dictate. Artwork will provide adequate details for accurate installation and fabrication costs. 

Deliverable: Using the information agreed upon in Phase 1 and Phase 2, Solace/ Thumbler will 

dedicate 15 hours to artwork preparation. This time allocation is based on artwork for six to 

eight (6-8) signs in PDF format suitable for securing fabrication estimates and consistent 

formatting. One set of minor revisions is included in this proposal. The sign design document 

will specify layout, dimensions, ink and paint colors required for fabrication consistency. (15 

hours, $1175) 

Budget Impacts 

Funding for the branding design will come from Fund 110. The project cost is $3,425 if the consultant 

is able to stay within the number of redesigns proposed. Staff is requesting a 20% contingency to 

Item 8B
2 of 35



 

City of Colfax 3 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 Solace Graphics Community Branding Agreement 
 

 

address time and material cost above the base proposal. The total amount for the agreement is not to 

exceed $4,110 from Fund 110. 

 

 
 

Attachments 
1. Resolution 15-2019 

2. Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net Consultant Agreement 

3. Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net Proposal – Exhibit A 

4. Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net Presentation 

 

Item 8B
3 of 35



 

City of Colfax 1 

Resolution 15-2019 Solace Graphics Community Branding Agreement 
 

City of Colfax 
City Council 

 

Resolution № 15-2019 
 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COLFAX AUTHORIZING 

THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH SOLACE 

GRAPHICS/THUMBLER.NET FOR COMMUNITY BRANDING SERVICES IN AN 

AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $4,110. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Colfax has expressed value in supporting the 

ongoing economic development of the City and improve the quality of life for residents; 

and  
 

WHEREAS, the Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net is a marketing and signage company that 
works with clients to establish winning brand and communication strategies; and 

 

WHEREAS, the objective would be to create a cohesive plan which will draw the public 
toward the City and improve economic viability through an effective theme 
resulting in signage in a variety of shapes and sizes, all of which have a consistent, 
look, feel and brand for the City of Colfax..  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Colfax authorizes the 

City Manager to enter into an agreement with Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net for 

Community Branding Services in an amount not to exceed $4,110. 
 

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED at the 

Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Colfax held on the 22nd day of May 

2019, by the following vote of the Council: 

 

AYES:    

NOES:    

ABSTAIN:  

ABSENT:   

______________________________ 

        Joe Fatula, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:                                                                                                                                 

 

___________________________________ 

Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Item 8B
4 of 35



AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on this 23rd day of May, 2019 by and between the 
City of Colfax, a municipal corporation of the State of California (“City”) and Solace 
Graphics/Thumbler.net (“Consultant”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. The City desires to retain Consultant to provide the Services set forth in detail in Exhibit A 
hereto (the “Services”) subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
 
B. Consultant is duly licensed and sufficiently experienced to undertake and perform the 
Services in a skilled and workmanlike manner and desires to do so in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. 
 
Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement, the City and Consultant agree as follows: 
 
Section 1.  Services. 
 
Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, Consultant shall furnish and 
perform all of the Services described in detail in Exhibit A hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”) to the satisfaction of the City.  Consultant shall not perform any work 
exceeding the scope of the Services described in Exhibit A without prior written authorization from 
the City. 
 
Section 2.  Time of Completion. 
 
Consultant’s schedule for performance of the Services is set forth in Exhibit A hereto which is 
incorporated herein by this reference.  Consultant shall commence performance of the Services 
promptly upon receipt of written notice from the City to proceed. Performance of the Services shall 
progress and conclude in accordance with the schedule set forth in Exhibit A.  During the 
performance of the Services, Consultant shall provide the City with written progress reports at least 
once each month and at such additional intervals as City may from time to time request.  
 
Section 3.  Compensation. 
 
A. Except as may otherwise be provided in Exhibit A or elsewhere in this Agreement or its 
exhibits, Consultant shall invoice City once each month for the Services performed during the 
preceding month. Such invoices shall itemize all charges in such detail as may reasonably be 
required by City in the usual course of City business but shall include at least (i) the date of 
performance of each of the Services, (ii) identification of the person who performed the Services, 
(iii) a detailed description of the Services performed on each date, (iv) the hourly rate at which the 
Services on each date are charged, (v) an itemization of all costs incurred and (vi) the total charges 
for the Services for the month invoiced. As long as the Consultant performs the Services to the 
satisfaction of the City, the City shall pay the Consultant an all-inclusive compensation that shall 

Item 8B
5 of 35



not exceed the amount as detailed in Exhibit A except pursuant to an authorized written change 
order issued pursuant to Section 15 of this Agreement before the Services requiring additional 
compensation are performed. City shall pay Consultant no later than thirty (30) days after approval 
of the monthly invoice by City’s staff. 
 
B. The Consultant's compensation for the Services shall be full compensation for all indirect 
and direct personnel, materials, supplies, equipment and services incurred by the Consultant and 
used in carrying out or completing the Services. Payments shall be in accordance with the 
payment schedule established in Exhibit A or elsewhere in this Agreement or its exhibits.   
  
C. The City shall have the right to receive, upon request, documentation substantiating charges 
billed to the City pursuant to this Agreement.  The City shall have the right to perform an audit of 
the Consultant's relevant records pertaining to the charges.    
 
D. Any Services performed more than sixty (60) days prior to the date upon which they are 
invoiced to the City shall not be compensable.  
 
Section 4.  Professional Ability; Standard of Quality. 
 
City has relied upon the professional training and ability of Consultant to perform the Services 
described in Exhibit A as a material inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Consultant shall 
therefore provide properly skilled professional and technical personnel to perform all Services 
under this Agreement.  All Services performed by Consultant under this Agreement shall be in a 
skillful, workmanlike manner in accordance with applicable legal requirements and shall meet the 
standard of quality ordinarily to be expected of competent professionals in Consultant’s field of 
expertise. 
 
Section 5.  Indemnification. 
 
Consultant shall hold harmless and indemnify, including without limitation the cost to defend, the 
City and its officers, agents and employees from and against any and all claims, demands, damages, 
costs or liability that arise out of, or pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness or willful 
misconduct of Consultant and/or its agents in the performance of the Services. This indemnity does 
not apply to liability for damages for death or bodily injury to persons, injury to property, or other 
loss, arising from the sole negligence, willful misconduct or material defects in design by the City 
or its agents, servants employees or independent contractors other than Consultant who are directly 
responsible to the City, or arising from the active negligence of the City officers, agents, employees 
or volunteers 
 
Section 6.  Subcontracts. 
 
Consultant may not subcontract any portion of the Services without the written authorization of 
City.  If City consents to a subcontract, Consultant shall be fully responsible to the City and third 
parties for all acts or omissions of the subcontractor to which the Services or any portion thereof are 
subcontracted.  Nothing in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between City 
and any subcontractor, nor shall it create any obligation on the part of the City to pay or cause the 

Item 8B
6 of 35



payment of any monies due to any such subcontractor except as otherwise is required by law. 
 
Section 7.  Assignment. 
 
Consultant shall not assign any right or obligation under this Agreement without the City’s prior 
written consent.  Any attempted assignment of any right or obligation under this Agreement without 
the City’s prior written consent shall be void. 
 
Section 8.  Entire Agreement. 
 
This Agreement represents the entire understanding of City and Consultant as to those matters 
contained herein.  No prior oral or written understanding shall be of any force or effect with respect 
to those matters covered herein.  This Agreement may not be modified or altered except in writing 
signed by both parties. 
 
Section 9.  Jurisdiction. 
 
This Agreement shall be administered and interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  
Jurisdiction over any litigation arising from this Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the 
State of California with venue in Placer County, California.   
 
Section 10.  Suspension of Services. 
 
Upon written request by Consultant, City may suspend, in writing, all or any portion of the Services 
if unforeseen circumstances beyond the control of the City and Consultant make normal progress of 
the Services impossible, impractical or infeasible. Upon written City approval to suspend 
performance of the Services, the time for completion of the Services shall be extended by the 
number of days performance of the Services is suspended.   
 
Section 11.  Termination of Services. 
 
City may at any time, at its sole discretion, terminate all or any portion of the Services and this 
Agreement upon seven (7) days written notice to Consultant.  Upon receipt of notice of termination, 
Consultant shall stop performance of the Services at the stage directed by City.  Consultant shall be 
entitled to payment within thirty (30) days for Services performed up to the date of receipt of the 
written notice of termination. Consultant shall not be entitled to payment for any Services 
performed after the receipt of the notice of termination unless such payment is authorized in 
advance in writing by the City. 
 
Should Consultant fail to perform any of the obligations required of Consultant within the time and 
in the manner provided for under the terms of this Agreement, or should Consultant violate any of 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement, City may terminate this Agreement by providing 
Consultant with seven (7) days written notice of such termination.  The Consultant shall be 
compensated for all Services performed prior to the date of receipt of the notice of termination. 
However, the City may deduct from the compensation which may be owed to Consultant the 
amount of damage sustained or estimated by City resulting from Consultant’s breach of this 

Item 8B
7 of 35



Agreement.  
 
Consultant’s obligations pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 of this Agreement shall survive termination, 
and continue in effect for as long as necessary to fulfill the purposes of Sections 5 and 6.  
 
Section 12.  Independent Contractor. 
 
Consultant shall in all respects be an independent contractor and not an employee of City.  In 
particular, the following are specifically applicable to Consultant’s performance of the Services: 
 
A.  Consultant shall receive no premium or enhanced pay for work normally understood as 

overtime; nor shall Consultant receive holiday pay, sick leave, administrative leave, 
vacation or pay for any other time not actually worked.   

 
B. Consultant shall not be eligible for benefits and shall receive no compensation from the 

City, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.   
 
C. From time to time during the term of this Agreement, Consultant will be unavailable to 

perform the Services outlined in this Agreement.  Consultant will be responsible to make 
appropriate arrangements to ensure that no interruption to the fiscal workflow of City 
occurs.  Times of unavailability will be negotiated between Consultant and the City 
Manager/Executive Director.   

 
D. Consultant may contract to perform services for other clients or entities as long as 

performance of said services does not interfere or conflict with Consultant’s performance 
of Services for the City. 

 
E. Consultant retains exclusive control over the means and methods of performing the 

Services pursuant to this Agreement.  Consultant shall have no established hours or 
schedule and shall be permitted to perform the Services according to its own schedule.  
The City shall have the right to maintain control over only the end product or final result 
of the Services, but not over how such end product or final result are achieved.  The City 
shall not provide, and Consultant shall not receive, any training or directions from the 
City regarding how Consultant performs the Services pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
F. Consultant shall supply its own instrumentalities, tools and place of performing the 

Services pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
G. Consultant’s compensation shall be based on the actual number of hours for which 

Consultant provides the Services multiplied by Consultant’s hourly rate plus reimbursable 
expenses.  The City will report Consultant’s compensation for federal income tax 
purposes on an IRS Form 1099-Misc.  The City shall not withhold any federal income 
tax, FICA or Medicare nor any California personal income tax (CAPIT), SDI, SUI, ETT 
or similar withholdings from Consultant’s compensation.  Consultant shall be solely 
responsible for paying all self-employment and similar taxes from Consultant’s 
compensation under this Agreement. 

Item 8B
8 of 35



 
 H.  Consultant shall not be eligible for coverage under the City’s Workers 

Compensation or similar insurance coverage. 
 
Section 13.  Ownership of Documents. 
 
Within thirty (30) days after the Consultant substantially completes performance of the Services, 
or within thirty (30) days after the termination of this Agreement, the Consultant shall deliver to 
the City all files, records, materials and documents drafted or prepared by Consultant's in the 
performance of the Services.  It is expressly understood and agreed that all such files, records, 
materials and documents are the property of the City and not the property of the Consultant. All 
finished and unfinished reports, plans, studies, documents and other writings prepared by and for 
Consultant, its officers, employees and agents in the course of performing the Services shall 
become the sole property of the City upon payment to Consultant for the Services, and the City 
shall have the exclusive right to use such materials in its sole discretion without further 
compensation to Consultant or to any other party.  Consultant shall, at Consultant’s expense, 
provide such reports, plans, studies, documents and writings to City or any party the City may 
designate, upon written request.  Consultant may keep file copies of all documents prepared for 
City.  Use of any such documents by the City for projects that are not the subject of this Agreement 
or for purposes beyond the scope of the Services shall be at the City’s sole risk without legal 
liability or expense to Consultant. 
 
Section 14.  Changes and/or Extra Work. 
 
Only the City Council may authorize extra and/or changed Services, modification of the time of 
completion of the Services, or additional compensation for the tasks to be performed by Consultant. 
Consultant expressly recognizes that other City personnel are without authorization to order extra 
and/or changed Services or to obligate the City to the payment of additional compensation.  The 
failure of Consultant to secure the prior written authorization for such extra and/or changed 
Services shall constitute a waiver of any and all right to adjustment in the contract price due to such 
unauthorized Services, and Consultant thereafter shall not be entitled to any compensation 
whatsoever for the performance of such extra or changed Services.  In the event Consultant and 
City agree that extra and/or changed Services are required, or that additional compensation shall be 
awarded to Consultant for performance of the Services under this Agreement, a supplemental 
agreement providing for such compensation shall be prepared and shall be executed by the 
Consultant and the necessary City officials before the extra and/or changed Services are provided. 
 
Section 15.  Compliance with Federal, State and Local Laws. 
 
Consultant shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules 
and regulations affecting the Services, including without limitation laws requiring licensing and 
prohibiting discrimination in employment because of race, creed, color, sex, age, marital status, 
physical or mental disability, national origin or other prohibited bases.  City shall not be responsible 
or liable for Consultant’s failure to comply with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, rules or 
regulations. 
 

Item 8B
9 of 35



Section 16.  Retention of Records. 
 
Consultant and any subconsultants authorized by the terms of this Agreement shall keep and 
maintain full and complete documentation and accounting records, employees’ time sheets, and 
correspondence pertaining to the Services, and Consultant shall make such documents available for 
review and/or audit by City and City’s representatives at all reasonable times during performance of 
the Services and for at least four (4) years after completion of the Services and/or termination of 
this Agreement. 
 
Section 17.  Alternative Dispute Resolution 

A.     Before resorting to mediation, arbitration or other legal process, the primary contacts of the 
parties shall meet and confer and attempt to amicably resolve any dispute arising from or 
relating to this Agreement subject to the following provisions.  Any party desiring to meet 
and confer shall so advise the other party pursuant to a written notice.  Within 15 days after 
provision of that written notice by the party desiring to meet and confer, the primary 
contacts for each party shall meet in person and attempt to amicably resolve their dispute.  
Each primary contact, or the person acting in their absence with full authority to resolve the 
dispute, shall attend the meeting and shall be prepared to devote an entire day thereto.  If 
any dispute remains unresolved at the end of the meeting, any party to this Agreement shall 
have the right to invoke the mediation process provided for in the subparagraph B below.   

B.     Subject to the provisions of subparagraph A, any dispute that remains unresolved after the 
meet and confer shall immediately be submitted to non-binding neutral mediation, before a 
mutually acceptable, neutral retired judge or justice at the Sacramento Office of the Judicial 
Arbitration and Mediation Service (“JAMS”).  If within five days after the meet and confer 
the parties are unable to agree upon the selection of a neutral mediator, then the first 
available retired judge or justice at the Sacramento office of JAMS shall serve as the 
neutral mediator.  The parties agree to commit to at least one full day to the mediation 
process.  Additionally, to expedite the resolution of any dispute that is not resolved by 
mediation, the parties agree to each bring to the neutral mediation a list of at least five 
neutral arbitrators, including their resumes, whose availability for an arbitration hearing 
within 30 days after the mediation has been confirmed.   

C.     If mediation is unsuccessful, before the mediation concludes, the parties shall mediate the 
selection of a neutral arbitrator to assist in the resolution of their dispute.  If the parties are 
unable to agree on an arbitrator, the parties agree to submit selection of an arbitrator to the 
mediator, whose decision shall be binding on the parties.  In that case, the mediator shall 
select a neutral arbitrator from the then active list of retired judges or justices at the 
Sacramento Office of the JAMS.  The arbitration shall be conducted pursuant to the 
provisions of the California Arbitration Act, sections 1280-1294.2 of the California Code of 
Civil Procedure.  In such case, the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure Section 1283.05 
and 1283.1 shall apply and are hereby incorporated into this Agreement.   

 
D.     This section 18 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement. If there is no 

Sacramento office of JAMS, then the office of JAMS closest to the City shall be used 

Item 8B
10 of 35



instead of a Sacramento office. 
 
Section 18.  Severability. 
 
The provisions of this Agreement are severable.  If any portion of this Agreement is held invalid by 
an arbitrator or by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in 
full force and effect unless amended or modified by the mutual written consent of the parties. 
 
Section 19.  Entire Agreement; Amendment. 
 
This Agreement, including all exhibits hereto, constitutes the complete and exclusive expression of 
the understanding and agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.  All 
prior written and oral communications, including correspondence, drafts, memoranda, and 
representations, are superseded in total by this Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended or 
extended from time to time only by written agreement of the parties hereto. 
 
Section 20.  Time of the Essence. 
 
Time is of the essence in the performance of the Services. The Consultant will perform its Services 
with due and reasonable diligence consistent with sound professional practices and shall devote 
such time to the performance of the Services as may be necessary for their timely completion.   
 
Section 21.  Written Notification. 
 
Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or 
communications that either party desires or is required to give to the other party shall be in writing 
and either served personally or sent by first class mail, postage prepaid and addressed as follows.  
Either party may change its address by notifying the other party in writing of the change of address. 
Notice shall be deemed communicated within two business days from the time of mailing if mailed 
within the State of California as provided in this Section. 
 
If to City:   City of Colfax 
     33 S. Main Street 
     Colfax, CA 95713 
 
If to Consultant:   Solace Graphics/Thumbler.net 
     111 Bank Street #196 
     Grass Valley, CA 95945 
Section 22.  Execution. 
 
This Agreement may be executed in original counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and 
the same instrument and shall become binding upon the parties when at least one original 
counterpart is signed by both parties hereto.  In proving this Agreement, it shall not be necessary to 
produce or account for more than one such counterpart. 
 
 

Item 8B
11 of 35



Section 23. Successors.  This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the 
respective parties hereto except to the extent of any contrary provision in this Agreement. 
 
Section 24. Attorney’s Fees.  If any party to this Agreement commences legal proceedings to 
enforce any of its terms or to recover damages for its breach, the prevailing party shall be entitled to 
recover its reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and the expenses of expert witnesses, including any 
such fees costs and expenses incurred on appeal. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby have executed this Agreement on the day first above 
written: 
 
 
CITY       CONSULTANT 
 
Signature     Signature    
 
Printed Name     Printed Name    
 
Title       Title     
 
Date       Date     
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
       
City Attorney 

Item 8B
12 of 35



April 8, 2019 

City of Colfax 
Wes Heathcock, City Manager 
City of Colfax City Council 

Signage Planning 
Submitted by Ken Teichmann, Solace Graphics & Pamela Biery, Thumbler  

Background 

The City of Colfax is attracting new business. Small business owners and corporate 
franchises as well as developers are investing in Colfax and exploring options. 

Colfax has a number of existing signs which are in disrepair. There are new sign 
opportunities for banners and flags to support the Historic District. 

Solace Graphics and Thumbler propose that this is a rare moment in which the 
signs could be repaired with a consistent look, feel and brand for the City of Colfax. 
These designs could be carried forward for future plans, establishing a systematic 
process.  

The lack of a unified plan exposes the City of Colfax to haphazard volunteer efforts 
and also strong corporate branding from outside corporations. Both of these 
weaken the historic, local, small-town nature that is a primary asset for Colfax's 
future as a tourist destination.  

It is our evaluation that Colfax is on the cusp of development and needs a 
professionally prepared plan for managing its signs that unifies appearance and 
acts as a directional traffic funnel. 

Solace Graphics 
www.SolaceGraphics.com  
ken@solacegraphics.com  

Thumbler.net 
www.Thumbler.net   
thumbleragency@gmail.com 

530.477.9966 530.218.2027 

Exhibit A Item 8B
13 of 35

http://www.SolaceGraphics.com
http://www.Thumbler.net
mailto:ken@solacegraphics.com
mailto:thumbleragency@gmail.com
http://www.SolaceGraphics.com
http://www.Thumbler.net
mailto:ken@solacegraphics.com
mailto:thumbleragency@gmail.com


�
 Solace Graphics                   �         Thumbler.net 

Proposed Process/Scope 

Solace Graphics and Thumbler propose to combine their skills and work closely 
with the City of Colfax and stakeholders on a three-phase design process that will 
provide the Colfax with a united brand and a working plan for updating and 
unifying six to eight (6-8) existing signs. 

Outline of Services 

Phase 1 

Solace/Thumbler are prepared to dedicate 10 hours, meeting with stakeholders, 
collecting input and existing working drawings for signs and graphics. This will 
include compiling dimensions and locations for each sign to be included in this 
initial plan. With this, Solace/Thumbler will prepare a systematic approach and 
recommendations to the City of Colfax.  

Deliverable: One (1) two-hour meeting, recommendations overview draft. Visit
each selected sign site, compile dimensions, report conditions and photograph. 
Review these recommendations, collect input and then revise and submit this as a 
three to five (3-5) page document to the City Manager for approval and 
presentation to City Council, if desired. (10 hours, $750) 

Phase 2 

With all stakeholder input and an agreed approach, Solace/Thumbler will prepare 
three (3) sign sketches with varied treatments, review and go through two (2) sets of 
revisions to establish a systematic, unified design solution for the City of Colfax 
signs. This design theme will be used to build brand unity with all future signs for 
the City of Colfax. Note: This proposal utilizes existing elements and does not 
include a brand for the City of Colfax. A brand exists, which  can be revised 
minimally and further specified for uniform future applications. 

Deliverable: Using the information compiled in the initial report, Solace/Thumbler
will dedicate 20 hours to artwork preparation, review and presentation as outlined 

solacegraphics.com City of Colfax: Signage Plan thumbler.net  �2

Exhibit A Item 8B
14 of 35

http://thumbler.net
http://thumbler.net


�
 Solace Graphics                   �         Thumbler.net 

above. The deliverable within this time frame is contingent on following the 
allocated process. The selected, approved sign design will be shown as applied on 
a minimum of three (3) signs. (20 hours, $1,500). Additional hours to refine the 
existing brandmark are also available on request at $75 per hour. 

Phase 3 

Working from the approved plan created in Phase 2, Solace/Thumbler will prepare 
artwork layouts to size for each of the six to eight (6-8) signs specified in Phase 1. 
This artwork will be used to build brand unity with City of Colfax signs and can be 
developed as funding and needs dictate. Artwork will provide adequate details for 
accurate installation and fabrication costs. 

Deliverable: Using the information agreed upon in Phase 1 and Phase 2, Solace/
Thumbler will dedicate 15 hours to artwork preparation. This time allocation is 
based on artwork for six to eight (6-8) signs in PDF format suitable for securing 
fabrication estimates and consistent formatting. One set of minor revisions is 
included in this proposal. The sign design document will specify layout, 
dimensions, ink and paint colors required for fabrication consistency. (15 hours, 
$1175) 

Timeline 

Moving forward with work and review at weekly or periodic meetings, this proposal 
can be completed within two to three months, contingent on input, compliance 
with planned sequence and stakeholder meeting availability. 

Rationale 

The steps outlined in this proposal prepare the City of Colfax with a systematic 
approach to existing and future signs. With the completion this work, Colfax has 
defined a clear approach for current similar design considerations. 

With planning, signs will respond to traffic needs and be sequentially implemented 
to best enhance development and preservation opportunities for Colfax. The City 
of Colfax demonstrates its support for measured economic growth in its historic 
district and enhances ongoing tourism events and activities.
solacegraphics.com City of Colfax: Signage Plan thumbler.net  �3

Exhibit A Item 8B
15 of 35

http://thumbler.net
http://thumbler.net


�
 Solace Graphics                   �         Thumbler.net 

Terms 

This is a limited time offer available for thirty (30) days. It can be terminated at the 
completion of any given phase. 

In the event that the City of Colfax agrees to proceed, a contract will be prepared 
reflecting all terms as discussed herein. The terms of this contract will affirm that 
each phase will be paid in advance prior to the commencement of work. This work 
deals with specific, intellectual property and time spent. As such, it has value only to 
the City of Colfax. 

Additional hours may be secured at the same rate with written approval in advance 
of any work performed. 

Thank you for carefully reviewing this proposal. 

We look forward to answering your questions. 

Respectfully, 

Ken Teichmann + Pamela Biery 

solacegraphics.com City of Colfax: Signage Plan thumbler.net  �4

Exhibit A Item 8B
16 of 35

http://thumbler.net
http://thumbler.net


�
 Solace Graphics                   �         Thumbler.net 

About Solace Graphics 

Solace Graphics is an innovator with a background in commercial and residential 
development signage, fleet support, traditional sign making, and commercial 
projects. Many Nevada and Placer County businesses include work by Mr. 
Teichmann. 

Moving from Los Angeles to Nevada County, Ken brought with him a background in 
commercial property window tinting and graphic applications. This background has 
allowed Solace Graphics to become very proficient in identifying potential issues 
and negotiating planning and permit-application, leading to sign successful 
fabrication and installation. 

Solace Graphics often works with Thumbler, providing brand illustration, rendering 
and sign fabrication, in addition to independent projects. 

Solace Graphics will lead brand design and development, lending practical 
expertise in code and fabrication to the conversation. 

Ken worked closely with Standard Pacific Homes through the firm Defining 
Elements from 2003-2008. Solace Graphics provided site locator signs, directional 
signs, project identity signs and model home signs. Additionally, with Defining 
Elements, Ken implemented a comprehensive human directional signage plan, as 
an aspect of Standard Pacific's marketing. Work for this client included proper 
identification of locator signs and all related permit processes. Solace Graphics 
managed integrated, complex commercial signage projects throughout the housing 
boom prior to the 2008 economic recession. Ken's role with Standard Pacific was to 
create consistent branding, get cars off the freeway and direct them to the specific 
location desired—this understanding of traffic-funneling sign management is 
essential to the City of Colfax's sign plan. 

solacegraphics.com City of Colfax: Signage Plan thumbler.net  �5

Exhibit A Item 8B
17 of 35

http://thumbler.net
http://thumbler.net


�
 Solace Graphics                   �         Thumbler.net 

About Thumbler 

Thumbler is a sole proprietor digital agency located in Nevada County, California. 

Owner Pamela Biery started this Western Nevada County business in 2012 and in 

2016, became a certified CMAS vendor, Women-Owned Business Enterprise (WBE) 

and California Micro Business.  Thumbler also maintains a SAM’s registration, 

qualifying to participate in Federal projects. 

Pamela Biery works with clients to establish winning brand and communication 

strategies. This means unifying and strengthening communication connections to 

build brand awareness and loyalty. She holds an MA in Management, a BA in 

Liberal Arts and Writing and a Certificate in PR and Marketing. Over the last 30 

years, she has built brands for multi-million dollar companies and helped start-ups 

go from green fields to complete branding and integrated communication. Her past 

work includes brands for the City of Yuba City, Yuba County, Yuba Sutter Fair, the 

Prune Festival and Beckwourth Frontier Days, (the Prune Festival attracted over 

100k visitors during its peak years). She is currently working with the City of Nevada 

City and Nevada City Chamber of Commerce on public outreach projects. 

Ms. Biery will provide project management and documentation for the City of 

Colfax sign plan. 

DBE Firm # 43610 | CMAS #2002560 | CA SB (Micro) #2002560 | SAM CAGE  #7X6X0 

solacegraphics.com City of Colfax: Signage Plan thumbler.net  �6

Exhibit A Item 8B
18 of 35

http://thumbler.net
http://thumbler.net


Brand Your Town
Presented

By

Solace Graphics Thumbler.net

Item 8B
19 of 35



Branding Builds Recognition

Brands are not just 
for business or products—
towns and cities benefit
from defining 
who they are and 
expressing this
in a visual manner.

Item 8B
20 of 35



Cultural tourism is travel directed toward experiencing the 
art, heritage or special character of a place. 

Item 8B
21 of 35



Open Your Mind.
A brand is a 
perception. 
It is what 
people think
of you, not 
what you say
you are. 

Item 8B
22 of 35



What do you want?

Branding creates 
an emotional connection. 
It’s vital to establish a 
brand based on
what others think, 
and what will 
attract visitors.

Item 8B
23 of 35



Brands ideally reflect communities, not only as 
they are, but as they hope to become.

Item 8B
24 of 35



Evaluate Assets and Strengths

Build your town 
brand by 
feasibility, not 
public sentiment 
or visions of 
greatness.

Item 8B
25 of 35



Get a clear view of realistic 
benefits and goals

Can Colfax gain recognition as a distinctive place 
along the Highway 80 Corridor?

Item 8B
26 of 35



Create a Logo or Brand 
Many towns have a logo or seal, but increasingly, these 
traditional logos aren’t appropriate for the immediacy of 
legibility required for today’s diverse needs.

Item 8B
27 of 35



Brandmarks or logos communicate quickly core 
messages about your town

Item 8B
28 of 35



Item 8B
29 of 35



Develop a Tagline or Slogan
Enhance and strengthen your visual message by wrapping 
it up with a few key words that characterize your place.

Item 8B
30 of 35



Establish a Color Palette
Every great brand 
has a color or 
group of colors 
associated with it.

Item 8B
31 of 35



Identify Sign Prospects
Which signs are key to providing way finding and 

brand information?

Item 8B
32 of 35



Bring Brand 
and Signs 
Together

Unify One Brand

Item 8B
33 of 35



Keep it Going!

Branding is a key 
step on a path to a 
town’s 
development.
Economic 
development and 
planning can 
determine the 
future path for a 
city or town.

Item 8B
34 of 35



Thank you
Solace Graphics 
www.SolaceGraphics.com 
ken@solacegraphics.com
530.477.9966 

Thumbler.net
www.Thumbler.net 
thumbleragency@gmail.com
530.218.2027

Item 8B
35 of 35

mailto:ken@solacegraphics.com
mailto:thumbleragency@gmail.com


Staff Report to City Council 

City of Colfax 1 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project 
(Federal Project No. CML-5187(010) –Award of 

Contract and Budget Amendment 

FOR THE MAY 22, 2019 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

From: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Prepared by: Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Subject: South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project (Federal Project No. CML-

5187(010) –Award of Contract and Budget Amendment 
Budget Impact Overview: 

N/A:   Funded: √ Un-funded: Amount: 

$3,711,040 

Fund(s): 385 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Discuss and consider adopting Resolution 16-2019 authorizing the City 

Manager to: 

1. Award a construction contract to Granite Construction Company in the amount of $2,735,074 and 

authorize the City Manager to execute change orders up to the budgeted amount.

2. Amend the project budget in the amount of $401,980 from Fund 385 for a total project budget 

$3,711,040 including a 5.5% contingency.

Summary/Background 

The South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project (Project) is located near State Route (SR 174) at the 

South Auburn Street & I-80 Westbound On/Off-Ramps intersection located from PM 33.01 to PM 33.12 in 

Placer County in the City of Colfax. The project consists of proposed roundabout improvements at the 

South Auburn Street & I-80 Westbound On/Off-Ramps intersection, which includes a single lane 

roundabout with a right turn pocket at the westbound off-ramp approach. Roundabout control/influence 

begins at Station 371+00 along the off-ramp and at Station 371+70 along the on-ramp. All of South Auburn 

Street has been designed to City standards. The roundabout intersection has been designed per the National 

Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Report 672, “Roundabouts: An Informational Guide” 

as referred to in Chapter 400 of the Highway Design Manual. 

In accordance with the Federal funding requirements the City has provided a certification package to 

Caltrans and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) that all right-of-way and utility conflicts are 

cleared, submitted a Request for Authorization (RFA), and obtained FHWA authorization (also known as 

an E76) before advertising the Project for bids. 

On January 9, 2019, the City Council adopted Resolution 01-2019 authorizing Staff to advertise the Project 

for bids.  Bid was released on April 1, 2019 advertised through the Auburn Journal, the City’s website, the 

CIPList.com website, and through local contractor’s/builder’s exchanges.  A total of eleven contractors 

registered to receive the bid documents.  The bids were due on April 30, 2019, at 2:00 p.m.  The City 

received three bids for the construction of the project.  Staff reviewed the bids and determined that bidders 

were responsible and submitted responsive bids.  The City received the following bids: 

Item 8C
1 of 177



City of Colfax 2 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project 
(Federal Project No. CML-5187(010) –Award of 

Contract and Budget Amendment 

Bidder Name Bid Amount 

Granite Construction Company $2,735,073.45 

Lorang Brothers $2,870,872.80 

Martin Brothers $4,200,955.19 

Engineer’s Estimate $2,264,890 

Granite Construction Company has been determined to be the lowest responsible and responsive bidder in 

the amount of $2,735,073.45. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The total project budget is funded with a Federal Grant Fund - State Highway Operation and Protection 

Program (SHOPP), a State Grant Fund - Congestion, Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ), a substantial fee 

share agreement from the Maidu Village developer, Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account 

(RMRA SB1) funding, a reimbursement agreement with Placer County Water Agency (PCWA), and a 

reimbursement agreement with Placer County Transportation Planning Agency (PCTPA) for Highway 

Improvement Program (HIP) funding.  

The Construction bid costs are $470,183 (21%) higher than the previous Engineer estimate of which 

$26,355 is related to relocation of utilities and will be funded by PCWA.  In addition, since our last 

review additional project funding has been committed to support the project including a new estimate 

for SB1 Funding and a commitment from PCTPA to support the project with Highway Improvement 

Estimate 

01/09/2019

Estimate 

05/22/2019

Funding

CMAQ 900,000$   900,000$   

SHOPP 1,250,000$   1,250,000$   

PCWA - Pass through 274,685$   301,040$   

Developer 850,000$   850,000$   

SB1 34,375$   60,000$   

PCTPA - HIP 350,000$   

Total Project Funding 3,309,060$   3,711,040$   

Expenses

PS&E 527,234$   527,234$   

Construction 2,264,890$   2,735,073$   

Contingency 217,851$   149,648$   

Construction Management 299,085$   299,085$   

Total Project Expenses 3,309,060$   3,711,040$   

Item 8C
2 of 177



City of Colfax 3 

Staff Report May 22, 2019 South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project 
(Federal Project No. CML-5187(010) –Award of 

Contract and Budget Amendment 

Program (HIP) funding up to $350,000.  The new revised budget includes a construction contingency 

of $149,648 (5.5% of construction costs).  Therefore, the project is anticipated to be completed with all 

outside funding as reflected in the chart above. 

Staff is recommending council authorize the City Manager to award the contract to Granite 

Construction Company based on the cost proposal and amend the total project budget in the amount of 

$401,980.  

Attachments 
1. Resolution 16-2019

2. Contract with Exhibit A

Item 8C
3 of 177



City of Colfax 1 

Resolution 16-2019 South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout 

Project (Federal Project No. CML-5187(010) –

Award of Contract and Budget Amendment 

City of Colfax 
City Council 

Resolution № 16-2019 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COLFAX AUTHORIZING 

THE CITY MANAGER TO: 

1. AWARD A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT TO GRANITE CONSTRUCTION

COMPANY IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,735,074 AND AUTHORIZE THE CITY

MANAGER TO EXECUTE CHANGE ORDERS UP TO THE BUDGETED AMOUNT.

2. AMEND THE PROJECT BUDGET IN THE AMOUNT OF $401,980 FROM FUND

385 FOR A TOTAL PROJECT BUDGET $3,711,040 INCLUDING A 5.5%

CONTINGENCY.

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution 01-2019 authorizing Staff to advertise the 
Project for bids; and 

WHEREAS, the City released bidding on April 1, 2019 was advertised through the Auburn 
Journal, the City’s website, the CIPList.com website, and through local 
contractor’s/builder’s exchanges; and 

WHEREAS, on April 30, 2019 the City received three bid where Granite Construction 
Company was determined to be the lowest responsible and responsive bidder in the 
amount of $2,735,073.45; and 

WHEREAS, the Construction bid costs are $470,183 (21%) higher than the previous Engineer 

estimate of which $26,355 is related to relocation of utilities and will be funded by 

PCWA; and, 

WHEREAS, additional project funding has been committed to support the project including a 

new estimate for SB1 Funding and a commitment from PCTPA to support the project 

with Highway Improvement Program funding up to $350,000; and, 

WHEREAS, the total estimated project cost including the environmental, engineering design, 
funding administration, low bid for construction, a construction contingency of 
$149,648, and construction management and inspection costs, totaling $3,711,040.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Colfax authorizes the 
City Manager to: 

Item 8C
4 of 177



City of Colfax 2 

Resolution 16-2019 South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout 

Project (Federal Project No. CML-5187(010) –

Award of Contract and Budget Amendment 

1. Award a construction contract to Granite Construction Company in the amount of
$2,735,074 and authorize the City Manager to execute change orders up to the
budgeted amount.

2. Amend the project budget in the amount of $401,980 from Fund 385 for a total
project budget $3,711,040 including a 5.5% contingency.

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED at the Regular 
Meeting of the City Council of the City of Colfax held on the 22nd day of May 2019, by 
the following vote of the Council: 

AYES: 

NOES: 
ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT: 

______________________________________ 
Joe Fatula, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 
Wes Heathcock, City Manager 

Item 8C
5 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 1 

AGREEMENT FOR CONTRACT SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on this 23rd day of May, 2019 by and between the 

City of Colfax, a municipal corporation of the State of California (“City”) and Granite Construction 

Company. (“Contractor”.) 

RECITALS 

A. The City desires to retain Contractor to provide the Services set forth in detail in Exhibit A

hereto (the “Services”) subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

B. Contractor is duly licensed and sufficiently experienced to undertake and perform the

Services in a skilled and workmanlike manner and desires to do so in accordance with the terms

and conditions of this Agreement.

Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises and conditions set forth in this 

Agreement, the City and Contractor agree as follows: 

Section 1.  Services. 

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, Contractor shall furnish and 

perform all of the Services described in detail in Exhibit A hereto and incorporated herein by this 

reference (the “Services”) to the satisfaction of the City.  Contractor shall not perform any work 

exceeding the scope of the Services described in Exhibit A without prior written authorization from 

the City. 

Section 2.  Time of Completion. 

Contractor’s schedule for performance of the Services is set forth in Exhibit A hereto which is 

incorporated herein by this reference.  Contractor shall commence performance of the Services 

promptly upon receipt of written notice from the City to proceed. Performance of the Services shall 

progress and conclude in accordance with the schedule set forth in Exhibit A.  During the 

performance of the Services, Contractor shall provide the City with written progress reports at least 

once each month and at such additional intervals as City may from time to time request.  

Section 3.  Compensation. 

A. Except as may otherwise be provided in Exhibit A or elsewhere in this Agreement or its

exhibits, Contractor shall invoice City once each month for the Services performed during the

preceding month. Such invoices shall itemize all charges in such detail as may reasonably be

required by City in the usual course of City business but shall include at least (i) the date of

performance of each of the Services, (ii) identification of the person who performed the Services,

(iii) a detailed description of the Services performed on each date, (iv) the hourly rate at which the

Services on each date are charged, (v) an itemization of all costs incurred and (vi) the total charges

Item 8C
6 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 2 

for the Services for the month invoiced. As long as the Contractor performs the Services to the 

satisfaction of the City, the City shall pay the Contractor an all-inclusive compensation that shall 

not exceed the amount as detailed in Exhibit A except pursuant to an authorized written change 

order issued pursuant to Section 15 of this Agreement before the Services requiring additional 

compensation are performed. City shall pay Contractor no later than thirty (30) days after approval 

of the monthly invoice by City’s staff. 

B. The Contractor's compensation for the Services shall be full compensation for all indirect

and direct personnel, materials, supplies, equipment and services incurred by the Contractor and

used in carrying out or completing the Services. Payments shall be in accordance with the

payment schedule established in Exhibit A or elsewhere in this Agreement or its exhibits.

C. The City shall have the right to receive, upon request, documentation substantiating charges

billed to the City pursuant to this Agreement.  The City shall have the right to perform an audit of

the Contractor's relevant records pertaining to the charges.

D. Any Services performed more than sixty (60) days prior to the date upon which they are

invoiced to the City shall not be compensable.

Section 4.  Professional Ability; Standard of Quality. 

City has relied upon the professional training and ability of Contractor to perform the Services 

described in Exhibit A as a material inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor shall 

therefore provide properly skilled professional and technical personnel to perform all Services 

under this Agreement.  All Services performed by Contractor under this Agreement shall be in a 

skillful, workmanlike manner in accordance with applicable legal requirements and shall meet the 

standard of quality ordinarily to be expected of competent professionals in Contractor’s field of 

expertise. 

Section 5.  Indemnification. 

Contractor shall hold harmless and indemnify, including without limitation the cost to defend, the 

City and its officers, agents and employees from and against any and all claims, demands, damages, 

costs or liability that arise out of, or pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness or willful 

misconduct of Contractor and/or its agents in the performance of the Services. This indemnity does 

not apply to liability for damages for death or bodily injury to persons, injury to property, or other 

loss, arising from the sole negligence, willful misconduct or material defects in design by the City 

or its agents, servants employees or independent contractors other than Contractor who are directly 

responsible to the City, or arising from the active negligence of the City officers, agents, employees 

or volunteers 

Item 8C
7 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 3 

Section 6.  Insurance. 

Without limiting Contractor’s indemnification obligations provided for above, Contractor shall take 

out before beginning performance of the Services and maintain at all times during the life of this 

Agreement the following policies of insurance with insurers possessing a Best rating of not less 

than A.  Contractor shall not allow any subcontractor, professional or otherwise, to commence work 

on any subcontract until all insurance required of the Contractor has also been obtained by the 

subcontractor. 

A. Workers’ Compensation Coverage.  Statutory Workers’ Compensation insurance and

Employer’s Liability Insurance to cover its employees.  In the alternative, Contractor may rely

on a self-insurance program to meet its legal requirements as long as the program of self-

insurance complies fully with the provisions of the California Labor Code. Contractor shall

also require all subcontractors, if such are authorized by the City, to similarly provide

Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the Labor Code of the State of California

for all of the subcontractor’s employees.  All Workers’ Compensation policies shall be

endorsed with the provision that the insurance shall not be suspended, voided, or cancelled

until thirty (30) days prior written notice has been provided to City by the insurer.  The

Workers’ Compensation insurance shall also contain a provision whereby the insurance

company agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the City and its elected or appointed

officials, officers, agents, and employees for losses paid under the terms of such policy which

arise from the Services performed by the insured for the City.

B. General Liability Coverage.  General liability insurance, including personal injury and

property damage insurance for all activities of the Contractor and its subcontractors, if such

are authorized by the City, arising out of or in connection with the Services.  The insurance

shall be written on a comprehensive general liability form and include a broad form

comprehensive general liability endorsement.  In the alternative, the City will accept, in

satisfaction of these requirements, commercial general liability coverage which is equivalent

to the comprehensive general liability form and a broad form comprehensive general liability

endorsement.  The insurance shall be in an amount of not less than $1 million combined

single limit personal injury and property damage for each occurrence.  The insurance shall be

occurrence-based insurance.  General liability coverage written on a claims-made basis shall

not be acceptable absent prior written authorization from the City.

C. Automobile Liability Coverage.  Automobile liability insurance covering bodily injury and

property damage for all activities of the Contractor arising out of or in connection with this

Agreement, including coverage for owned, hired and non-owned vehicles, in an amount of

not less than $1 million combined single limit for each occurrence.

Item 8C
8 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 4 

D. Policy Endorsements.  Each general liability and automobile liability insurance policy shall be

endorsed with the following provisions:

1. The City, and its elected or appointed officials, employees and agents shall be named as

insureds or additional insureds with regard to damages and defenses of claims arising

from activities performed by or on behalf of the Contractor.

2. The insurance afforded by each policy shall apply separately to each insured who is

seeking coverage or against whom a claim is made or a suit is brought, except with

respect to the insurer’s limits of liability.

3. The insurance shall be primary insurance as respects the City and its elected or

appointed officers, officials, employees and agents. Any other insurance maintained by

the City or its elected or appointed officers, officials, employees, agents or volunteers

shall be in excess of this insurance and shall not contribute with it.

4. The insurance shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, or reduced in coverage or in

limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice has been provided to the City.

5. Any failure to comply with the reporting requirements of any policy shall not affect

coverage provided to the City, its elected or appointed officers, officials, employees, or

agents.

E. Professional Liability Coverage.  If required by the City, Contractor shall also take out and

maintain professional liability, errors and omissions insurance in an amount not less than $1

million.  The professional liability insurance policy shall be endorsed with a provision stating

that it shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, or reduced in coverage or in limits except

after thirty (30) days written notice has been provided to the City.

F. Insurance Certificates and Endorsements.  Prior to commencing the Services under this

Agreement, Contractor shall submit to the City documentation evidencing the required

insurance signed by the insurance agent and the companies named.  This documentation shall

be on forms which are acceptable to the City and shall include all required endorsements and

verify that coverage is actually in effect.  This Agreement shall not be effective until the

required insurance forms and endorsements are submitted to and approved by the City.

Failure to provide these forms within the time period specified by City may result in the

award of this Agreement to another Contractor should the City, in its sole discretion, decide to

do so.  Current certification of insurance shall be kept on file with the City at all times during

the term of this Agreement.

G. Deductible and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be

declared to and approved by City. 

Item 8C
9 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 5 

 

H. Termination of Insurance.  If the City receives notification that Contractor’s insurance will be 

suspended, voided, cancelled or reduced in coverage or in limits, and if the Contractor does 

not provide for either the reinstatement of that insurance or for the furnishing of alternate 

insurance containing all of the terms and provisions specified above prior to the termination 

of that insurance, City may either terminate this Agreement for that breach, or City may 

secure the required insurance to satisfy the conditions of this Agreement and deduct the cost 

thereof from compensation which would otherwise be due and payable to the Contractor for 

Services rendered under the terms of this Agreement. 

 

Section 7.  Subcontracts. 

 

Contractor may not subcontract any portion of the Services without the written authorization of 

City.  If City consents to a subcontract, Contractor shall be fully responsible to the City and third 

parties for all acts or omissions of the subcontractor to which the Services or any portion thereof are 

subcontracted.  Nothing in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between City 

and any subcontractor, nor shall it create any obligation on the part of the City to pay or cause the 

payment of any monies due to any such subcontractor except as otherwise is required by law. 

 

Section 8.  Assignment. 

 

Contractor shall not assign any right or obligation under this Agreement without the City’s prior 

written consent.  Any attempted assignment of any right or obligation under this Agreement without 

the City’s prior written consent shall be void. 

 

Section 9.  Entire Agreement. 

 

This Agreement represents the entire understanding of City and Contractor as to those matters 

contained herein.  No prior oral or written understanding shall be of any force or effect with respect 

to those matters covered herein.  This Agreement may not be modified or altered except in writing 

signed by both parties. 

 

Section 10.  Jurisdiction. 

 

This Agreement shall be administered and interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Jurisdiction over any litigation arising from this Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the 

State of California with venue in Placer County, California.   

 

Section 11.  Suspension of Services. 

 

Upon written request by Contractor, City may suspend, in writing, all or any portion of the Services 

if unforeseen circumstances beyond the control of the City and Contractor make normal progress of 

the Services impossible, impractical or infeasible. Upon written City approval to suspend 

performance of the Services, the time for completion of the Services shall be extended by the 

number of days performance of the Services is suspended.   

Item 8C
10 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 6 

 

Section 12.  Termination of Services. 

 

City may at any time, at its sole discretion, terminate all or any portion of the Services and this 

Agreement upon seven (7) days written notice to Contractor.  Upon receipt of notice of termination, 

Contractor shall stop performance of the Services at the stage directed by City.  Contractor shall be 

entitled to payment within thirty (30) days for Services performed up to the date of receipt of the 

written notice of termination. Contractor shall not be entitled to payment for any Services 

performed after the receipt of the notice of termination unless such payment is authorized in 

advance in writing by the City. 

 

Should Contractor fail to perform any of the obligations required of Contractor within the time and 

in the manner provided for under the terms of this Agreement, or should Contractor violate any of 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement, City may terminate this Agreement by providing 

Contractor with seven (7) days written notice of such termination.  The Contractor shall be 

compensated for all Services performed prior to the date of receipt of the notice of termination. 

However, the City may deduct from the compensation which may be owed to Contractor the 

amount of damage sustained or estimated by City resulting from Contractor’s breach of this 

Agreement.  

 

Contractor’s obligations pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 of this Agreement shall survive termination, 

and continue in effect for as long as necessary to fulfill the purposes of Sections 5 and 6.  

 

Section 13.  Independent Contractor. 

 

Contractor shall in all respects be an independent contractor and not an agent or employee of City.  

Contractor has and shall retain the right to exercise full control and supervision of the means and 

methods of performing the Services.  Contractor shall receive no premium or enhanced pay for 

Services normally understood as overtime; nor shall Contractor receive holiday pay, sick leave, 

administrative leave or pay for any other time not actually expended in the performance of the 

Services.  It is intended by the parties that Contractor shall not be eligible for benefits and shall 

receive no compensation from the City, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.  Contractor 

shall submit completed W-9 and Report of Independent Contractor forms upon execution of this 

Agreement and prior to the payment of any compensation hereunder. 

 

Section 14.  Ownership of Documents. 

 

Within thirty (30) days after the Contractor substantially completes performance of the Services, 

or within thirty (30) days after the termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall deliver to 

the City all files, records, materials and documents drafted or prepared by Contractor's in the 

performance of the Services.  It is expressly understood and agreed that all such files, records, 

materials and documents are the property of the City and not the property of the Contractor. All 

finished and unfinished reports, plans, studies, documents and other writings prepared by and for 

Contractor, its officers, employees and agents in the course of performing the Services shall become 

the sole property of the City upon payment to Contractor for the Services, and the City shall have 

Item 8C
11 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 7 

the exclusive right to use such materials in its sole discretion without further compensation to 

Contractor or to any other party.  Contractor shall, at Contractor’s expense, provide such reports, 

plans, studies, documents and writings to City or any party the City may designate, upon written 

request.  Contractor may keep file copies of all documents prepared for City.  Use of any such 

documents by the City for projects that are not the subject of this Agreement or for purposes beyond 

the scope of the Services shall be at the City’s sole risk without legal liability or expense to 

Contractor. 

Section 15.  Changes and/or Extra Work. 

Only the City Council may authorize extra and/or changed Services, modification of the time of 

completion of the Services, or additional compensation for the tasks to be performed by Contractor. 

Contractor expressly recognizes that other City personnel are without authorization to order extra 

and/or changed Services or to obligate the City to the payment of additional compensation.  The 

failure of Contractor to secure the prior written authorization for such extra and/or changed Services 

shall constitute a waiver of any and all right to adjustment in the contract price due to such 

unauthorized Services, and Contractor thereafter shall not be entitled to any compensation 

whatsoever for the performance of such extra or changed Services.  In the event Contractor and City 

agree that extra and/or changed Services are required, or that additional compensation shall be 

awarded to Contractor for performance of the Services under this Agreement, a supplemental 

agreement providing for such compensation shall be prepared and shall be executed by the 

Contractor and the necessary City officials before the extra and/or changed Services are provided. 

Section 16.  Compliance with Federal, State and Local Laws. 

Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules 

and regulations affecting the Services, including without limitation laws requiring licensing and 

prohibiting discrimination in employment because of race, creed, color, sex, age, marital status, 

physical or mental disability, national origin or other prohibited bases.  City shall not be responsible 

or liable for Contractor’s failure to comply with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, rules or 

regulations. 

Section 17.  Retention of Records. 

Contractor and any subcontractors authorized by the terms of this Agreement shall keep and 

maintain full and complete documentation and accounting records, employees’ time sheets, and 

correspondence pertaining to the Services, and Contractor shall make such documents available for 

review and/or audit by City and City’s representatives at all reasonable times during performance of 

the Services and for at least four (4) years after completion of the Services and/or termination of 

this Agreement. 

Item 8C
12 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 8 

Section 18.  Alternative Dispute Resolution 

A. Before resorting to mediation, arbitration or other legal process, the primary contacts of the

parties shall meet and confer and attempt to amicably resolve any dispute arising from or

relating to this Agreement subject to the following provisions.  Any party desiring to meet

and confer shall so advise the other party pursuant to a written notice.  Within 15 days after

provision of that written notice by the party desiring to meet and confer, the primary

contacts for each party shall meet in person and attempt to amicably resolve their dispute.

Each primary contact, or the person acting in their absence with full authority to resolve the

dispute, shall attend the meeting and shall be prepared to devote an entire day thereto.  If

any dispute remains unresolved at the end of the meeting, any party to this Agreement shall

have the right to invoke the mediation process provided for in the subparagraph B below.

B. Subject to the provisions of subparagraph A, any dispute that remains unresolved after the

meet and confer shall immediately be submitted to non-binding neutral mediation, before a

mutually acceptable, neutral retired judge or justice at the Sacramento Office of the Judicial

Arbitration and Mediation Service (“JAMS”).  If within five days after the meet and confer

the parties are unable to agree upon the selection of a neutral mediator, then the first

available retired judge or justice at the Sacramento office of JAMS shall serve as the

neutral mediator.  The parties agree to commit to at least one full day to the mediation

process.  Additionally, to expedite the resolution of any dispute that is not resolved by

mediation, the parties agree to each bring to the neutral mediation a list of at least five

neutral arbitrators, including their resumes, whose availability for an arbitration hearing

within 30 days after the mediation has been confirmed.

C. If mediation is unsuccessful, before the mediation concludes, the parties shall mediate the

selection of a neutral arbitrator to assist in the resolution of their dispute.  If the parties are

unable to agree on an arbitrator, the parties agree to submit selection of an arbitrator to the

mediator, whose decision shall be binding on the parties.  In that case, the mediator shall

select a neutral arbitrator from the then active list of retired judges or justices at the

Sacramento Office of the JAMS.  The arbitration shall be conducted pursuant to the

provisions of the California Arbitration Act, sections 1280-1294.2 of the California Code of

Civil Procedure.  In such case, the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure Section 1283.05

and 1283.1 shall apply and are hereby incorporated into this Agreement.

D. This section 18 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement. If there is no

Sacramento office of JAMS, then the office of JAMS closest to the City shall be used

instead of a Sacramento office.

Section 19.  Severability. 

The provisions of this Agreement are severable.  If any portion of this Agreement is held invalid by 

an arbitrator or by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in 

full force and effect unless amended or modified by the mutual written consent of the parties. 

Item 8C
13 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 9 

 

Section 20.  Entire Agreement; Amendment. 

 

This Agreement, including all exhibits hereto, constitutes the complete and exclusive expression of 

the understanding and agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.  All 

prior written and oral communications, including correspondence, drafts, memoranda, and 

representations, are superseded in total by this Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended or 

extended from time to time only by written agreement of the parties hereto. 

 

Section 21.  Time of the Essence. 

 

Time is of the essence in the performance of the Services. The Contractor will perform its Services 

with due and reasonable diligence consistent with sound professional practices and shall devote 

such time to the performance of the Services as may be necessary for their timely completion.   

 

Section 22.  Written Notification. 

 

Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or 

communications that either party desires or is required to give to the other party shall be in writing 

and either served personally or sent by first class mail, postage prepaid and addressed as follows.  

Either party may change its address by notifying the other party in writing of the change of address. 

Notice shall be deemed communicated within two business days from the time of mailing if mailed 

within the State of California as provided in this Section. 

 

If to City:   City of Colfax 

     33 S. Main Street 

     Colfax, CA 95713 

 

If to Contractor:   Granite Construction Company 

     4001 Bradshaw Road 

     Sacramento, CA 95825 

 

Section 23.  Execution. 

 

This Agreement may be executed in original counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and 

the same instrument and shall become binding upon the parties when at least one original 

counterpart is signed by both parties hereto.  In proving this Agreement, it shall not be necessary to 

produce or account for more than one such counterpart. 

 

Section 24. Successors.  This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the 

respective parties hereto except to the extent of any contrary provision in this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

Item 8C
14 of 177



CML-5187(010) Granite Construction Company South Auburn Street and I-80 Roundabout Project Page 10 

 

Section 25. Attorney’s Fees.  If any party to this Agreement commences legal proceedings to 

enforce any of its terms or to recover damages for its breach, the prevailing party shall be entitled to 

recover its reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and the expenses of expert witnesses, including any 

such fees costs and expenses incurred on appeal. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby have executed this Agreement on the day first above 

written: 

 

 

CITY       CONTRACTOR 

 

Signature     Signature    

 

Printed Name     Printed Name    

 

Title       Title     

 

Date       Date     

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

City Attorney 

Item 8C
15 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
16 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
17 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
18 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
19 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
20 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
21 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
22 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
23 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
24 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
25 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
26 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
27 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
28 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
29 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
30 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
31 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
32 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
33 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
34 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
35 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
36 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
37 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
38 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
39 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
40 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
41 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
42 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
43 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
44 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
45 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
46 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
47 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
48 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
49 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
50 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
51 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
52 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
53 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
54 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
55 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
56 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
57 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
58 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
59 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
60 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
61 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
62 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
63 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
64 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
65 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
66 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
67 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
68 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
69 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
70 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
71 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
72 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
73 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
74 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
75 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
76 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
77 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
78 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
79 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
80 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
81 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
82 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
83 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
84 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
85 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
86 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
87 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
88 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
89 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
90 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
91 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
92 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
93 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
94 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
95 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
96 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
97 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
98 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
99 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
100 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
101 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
102 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
103 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
104 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
105 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
106 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
107 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
108 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
109 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
110 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
111 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
112 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
113 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
114 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
115 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
116 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
117 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
118 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
119 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
120 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
121 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
122 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
123 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
124 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
125 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
126 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
127 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
128 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
129 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
130 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
131 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
132 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
133 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
134 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
135 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
136 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
137 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
138 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
139 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
140 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
141 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
142 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
143 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
144 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
145 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
146 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
147 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
148 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
149 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
150 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
151 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
152 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
153 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
154 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
155 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
156 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
157 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
158 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
159 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
160 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
161 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
162 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
163 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
164 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
165 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
166 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
167 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
168 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
169 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
170 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
171 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
172 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
173 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
174 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
175 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
176 of 177



Exhibit A Item 8C
177 of 177


	00A- Final Agenda 5.22.19
	05A- 190424 Minutes
	05B- Quarterly Investment Report
	05B- 190508 SR Quarterly Investment
	05B1- FY2019-Q3-03.31.19 Analysis of Treasury Investment Pool
	05B2- PMIA - LAIF Performance Report 03.31.19
	05B3- PMIA Average Monthly Effective Yields 03.31.19

	05C- Cash Summary - April 2019
	05C- 2019-10 Apr Staff Report Cash Summary
	05C1a - Cash Analysis - Balance
	05C1b - Expenses by Month
	05C1c - Revenues by Month
	05C2a- Cash Summary
	05C2b- Cash Activities Reports 2
	05C2c- Check Register Report - Accounts Payable
	05C3- Cash Activities Reports 3
	05C3- Cash Activities Reports 4

	05C2d- Daily Cash Summary Report - Cash Receipts
	05C3- Cash Activities Reports 5
	05C3- Cash Activities Reports 6
	05C3- Cash Activities Reports 7


	05D- 3rd of July Donation $500
	05D- July 3rd Donation Staff Report
	05D- Resolution 14-2019 Donation to Colfax Green Machine for 3rd of July Event Fireworks

	08A- Colfax Net Variance
	08A- 190522 SR Colfax Net Variance
	08A1- Photograph of existing dead tree with antennas
	08A2- Site Plan
	08A3- Easement Language
	Easement Language
	Scanned from a Xerox Multifunction Printer (002) 1
	Scanned from a Xerox Multifunction Printer (002) 2

	Scanned from a Xerox Multifunction Printer (002) 3

	08A4- Email correspondence with PG&E
	08A5- Proposed use of tower space
	08A6 - Options considered
	08A7- Proposed Scope of work
	08A8- Timeline of proposed work
	08A9- Letter dated 2019.05.16 Letter to Colfax City Council re ColfaxNet
	08A10- Location-Parcel map

	08B- Community Branding
	08B- 190522 SR Community Branding
	08B1- 190522 Community Branding Resolution
	08B2- 190522 Solace Graphics-Thumbler Consultant Agreement
	A.     Before resorting to mediation, arbitration or other legal process, the primary contacts of the parties shall meet and confer and attempt to amicably resolve any dispute arising from or relating to this Agreement subject to the following provisi...
	B.     Subject to the provisions of subparagraph A, any dispute that remains unresolved after the meet and confer shall immediately be submitted to non-binding neutral mediation, before a mutually acceptable, neutral retired judge or justice at the Sa...
	C.     If mediation is unsuccessful, before the mediation concludes, the parties shall mediate the selection of a neutral arbitrator to assist in the resolution of their dispute.  If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator, the parties agree ...

	08B3- Solace Graphics-Thumbler.net Proposal - Exhibit A
	08B4- Solace Graphics-Thumbler.net Presentation

	08C- Roundabout Award of Contract - Granite Construction
	08C- 190522 S. Auburn Street  I-80 Roundabout Project Construction Award Staff Report
	08C1- 190522 S. Auburn Street  I-80 Roundabout Project Construction Award Resolution
	08C2- Granite Construction Company Contract with Exhibit A
	08C2- 190522 Granite Construction Company Contractor Agreement
	08C2- Exhibit A - Granite Construction
	08C2- Contract with Exhibit A - Granite Construction
	01- Granite Prop Coverpages
	02- Granite Prop DBE Documentation
	03- Granite Proposal, Available Items of Work -Tab 1
	04- Granite Proposal, Outreach Efforts - Tab 2
	05- Granite Proposal, 1st Solicitation - Tab 2A
	06- Granite Proposal, Addendum 1 - Tab 2B
	07- Granite Proposal, Advertisements - Tab 2C
	08- Granite Proposal, Phone Log - Tab 2C
	09- Granite Proposal, Selected Non-Selected Firms - Tab 3
	10- Granite Proposal
	11- Granite Proposal Envelope
	12- Granite Proposal Envelope - Good Faith Effort Submittal







